

# Some Bourgain-Brézis type solutions via complex interpolation

Eduard Curcă

### ▶ To cite this version:

Eduard Curcă. Some Bourgain-Brézis type solutions via complex interpolation. 2023. hal-04097900v2

## HAL Id: hal-04097900 https://hal.science/hal-04097900v2

Preprint submitted on 30 May 2023 (v2), last revised 11 Nov 2024 (v4)

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

## Some Bourgain-Brézis type solutions via complex interpolation

Eduard Curcă \*

May 30, 2023

#### Abstract

In 2002 Bourgain and Brézis proved that given a vector field  $v \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{W}^{1,d}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ there exists a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{W}^{1,d}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that div u = div v. We prove several results of a similar nature in which we take into consideration the Fourier support of the solutions. For instance, in the case  $d \geq 3$  we prove the following: for any vector field  $v \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  (where  $p \in [2, \infty)$  and  $q \in (1, 2)$ ), with  $supp \ \hat{v} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d \setminus (-\infty, 0)^d$ , there exists a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_2^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , with  $supp \ \hat{v} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d \setminus (-\infty, 0)^d$ , such that

$$\operatorname{div} u = \operatorname{div} v,$$

and

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}\cap \dot{B}_{2}^{d/p,p}} \lesssim \|v\|_{\dot{B}_{q}^{d/p,p}}$$

Our arguments rely on a version of the complex interpolation method combined with some ideas of Bourgain and Brézis.

## Contents

1	Introduction			
	1.1	Overview	2	
	1.2	A naive interpolation strategy $\ldots$	4	
	1.3	The main results	5	
	1.4	About the proofs	8	
<b>2</b>	Fun	ction spaces	10	
	2.1	Sobolev and Besov spaces	10	
	2.2	Lorentz-Sobolev spaces	12	
	2.3	Some quotient spaces	14	

\*Faculty of Computer Science, University Alexandru Ioan Cuza, General Berthelot, 16, Iasi 700483, Romania. Email address: eduard.curca@staff.uaic.ro.

3	The	W-method of complex interpolation	<b>14</b>
	3.1	Construction of the interpolation space $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	15
	3.2	A particular case	18
	3.3	Solutions of linear equations	20
		3.3.1 Boundary values of functions on the strip	21
		3.3.2 Interpolation of equations	24
4	$\mathbf{Spe}$	ctral analysis	<b>31</b>
	4.1	Symbols with bounded Fourier transform	31
	4.2	Divergence-like equations in $\dot{W}^{d/2,2}$	35
5	Solı	itions in interpolation spaces	42
	5.1	Proof of the main results	42

## 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Overview

Suppose  $d \geq 2$  is an integer and consider some compactly supported function  $f \in L^d(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Standard Calderón-Zygmund theory shows that there exists a vector field  $u \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{W}^{1,d}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

$$\operatorname{div} u = f, \tag{1}$$

in the distributions sense on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Indeed, it suffices to set

$$u := \nabla |\nabla|^{-2} f, \tag{2}$$

and to use the fact that the components of  $\nabla u$  are of the form  $R_i R_j u$  where  $R_1, ..., R_d$  are the Riesz transforms on  $\mathbb{R}^d$   $(\widehat{R_j \varphi}(\xi) = (\xi_j / |\xi|)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)$ , for any Schwartz  $\varphi$ ). Since each  $R_j$  is a Calderón-Zygmund operator, we easily get that each component of  $\nabla u$  belongs to  $L^d(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

Note that the space  $\dot{W}^{1,d}$  does not embed in  $L^{\infty}$  and hence, the solution in  $\dot{W}^{1,d}$  provided by the expression (2) may fall outside  $L^{\infty}$  (see for instance the example given by L. Nirenberg in [5, Remark 7, p. 400]). However, as it was shown<sup>1</sup> by Bourgain and Brézis (2002), the fact that (1) admits a (possibly another) solution  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is a direct consequence of the Gagliardo embedding  $(W^{1,1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \hookrightarrow L^{d'}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , where d' := d/(d-1)) (see [5, Proposition 1]).

Even more, Bourgain and Brézis have proved in [5, Theorem 1] the following striking fact: there exists a solution u to (1) that is *simultaneously* bounded and in the "right" Sobolev space  $\dot{W}^{1,d}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . In other words, there exists a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{W}^{1,d}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  which is a solution to (1). In the general case where  $d \geq 2$ , this result was proved by an involved approximation argument using the Littlewood-Paley square function. We mention that the complicated construction used in [5] can also be used in more general situations. By similar constructive methods, Bourgain and Brézis proved an analogue existence result for more general underdeterminated Hodge

Keywords: Bourgain-Brézis solutions, Fourier multipliers, Divergence equation.

MSC 2020 classification: 42B15, 42B35, 46B70

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The results of Bourgain and Brézis were stated in the case of the torus  $\mathbb{T}^d$ , however, it is easy to transfer these results on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

systems. Following the ideas in [5] and [6], Bousquet, Mironescu and Russ ([7], 2014) and later Bousquet, Russ, Wang and Yung ([8], 2017) provided generalizations of the Bourgain-Brézis results in the scale of Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. For instance, adapted to the case of the divergence equation, Theorem 2 in [8] gives us:

**Theorem 1.** Suppose that  $1 < p, q < \infty$  and consider some vector field  $v \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{F}_q^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then, there exists a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{F}_q^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

$$\operatorname{div} u = \operatorname{div} v$$

and

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}\cap \dot{F}_q^{d/p,p}} \lesssim \|v\|_{\dot{F}_q^{d/p,p}}.$$

**Remark 2.** Note that by Calderón-Zygmund theory any (compactly supported)  $f \in \dot{F}_q^{d/p-1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ can be written as the divergence of the vector field  $v = \nabla |\nabla|^{-2} f \in \dot{F}_q^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Hence, since  $\dot{F}_2^{1,d} = \dot{W}^{1,d}$ , when p = d and q = 2, from Theorem 1 above we recover the result of Bourgain and Brézis.

A similar existence result holds for the scale of Besov spaces, the proof being technically the same as for Theorem 1. Since in this paper we are concerned more with the Besov version, we explicitly state it below:

**Theorem 3.** Suppose that  $1 < p, q < \infty$  and consider some vector field  $v \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then, there exists a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  that satisfies

$$\operatorname{div} u = \operatorname{div} v$$

and such that

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}\cap \dot{B}_{q}^{d/p,p}} \lesssim ||v||_{\dot{B}_{q}^{d/p,p}}.$$

**Remark 4.** Throughout the paper we will call the given vector v the source and u will be called solution. A similar convention will also be applied to more general equations.

It is worth noticing that in the special case where d = 2 (and hence, p = 2) Bourgain and Brézis have found a much simpler proof of their existence result (see [5, Section 4, p. 403]). In this case the proof is by duality and it is nonconstructive. Also, by similar methods, a proof was found by Mazya (2007) for the case p = q = 2 of Theorem 1 (or equivalently of Theorem 3) (see [16]). Again, the proof is by duality and strikingly simple. (See also [17] for some related discussions.) However, both approaches, namely that of Bourgain and Brézis in the case d = 2and that of Mazya are based on  $L^2$ -Fourier analysis arguments that are unlikely to be extended to the case where  $p \neq 2$ .

There is yet another situation of a different nature:

**Proposition 5.** Let  $d \ge 2$  be an integer and consider some  $r \in (1, \infty)$ . Then, for any vector field  $v \in \dot{B}_1^{d/r,r}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  there exists a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_1^{d/r,r}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

$$\operatorname{div} u = \operatorname{div} v,$$

and

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}\cap \dot{B}_{1}^{d/r,r}} \lesssim ||v||_{\dot{B}_{1}^{d/r,r}}.$$

Indeed, since  $\dot{B}_1^{d/r,r}(\mathbb{R}^d) \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_1^{d/r,r}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , it suffices to set u := v (see subsection 2.1 for the definition of  $\dot{B}_1^{d/r,r}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  we use in this paper). Since Proposition 5 and Theorem 3 have much easier proofs than the constructive proof used in [5] and in [7], it would be interesting to find a way to "interpolate" between Proposition 5 and Theorem 3.

#### **1.2** A naive interpolation strategy

One may try to interpolate in the following way. By the closed range theorem and the lifting property of the Besov spaces we can reformulate Proposition 5 and Theorem 3

$$\|g\|_{\dot{B}^{-d/r+1,r'}_{\infty}} \sim \|\nabla g\|_{\dot{B}^{-d/r,r'}_{\infty}} \lesssim \|\nabla g\|_{L^{1}+\dot{B}^{-d/r,r'}_{\infty}}, \tag{3}$$

and respectively,

$$\|g\|_{\dot{W}^{-d/2,2}} \sim \|\nabla g\|_{\dot{W}^{-d/2,2}} \lesssim \|\nabla g\|_{L^1 + \dot{W}^{-d/2,2}},\tag{4}$$

for any Schwartz function g with  $\hat{g}$  vanishing in a neighborhood of 0.

For each Banach function space Y on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  denote by  $\mathcal{G}(Y)$  the space of all vector fields in Y that are gradients, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{G}(Y) := \{ g \in Y \mid \operatorname{curl} g = 0 \}$$

With this notation one can view (3) and (4) as the embeddings

$$\mathcal{G}(L^1 + \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r,r'}) \hookrightarrow \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r+1,r'}$$

and respectively,

$$\mathcal{G}(L^1 + \dot{W}^{-d/2,2}) \hookrightarrow \dot{W}^{-d/2+1,2}.$$

By complex interpolation (we may consider the real interpolation as well), we conclude that, for any  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$(\mathcal{G}(L^{1} + \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r,r'}), \mathcal{G}(L^{1} + \dot{W}^{-d/2,2}))_{\theta} \hookrightarrow (\dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r+1,r'}, \dot{W}^{-d/2+1,2})_{\theta}.$$
(5)

The right hand side of (5) can be easily computed explicitly (see for instance [2, Chapter 6]):

$$(\dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r+1,r'}, \dot{W}^{-d/2+1,2})_{\theta} = \dot{B}_{q'}^{-d/p+1,p'}$$

where  $1/p = (1 - \theta)/r + \theta/2$  and  $1/q = (1 - \theta)/1 + \theta/2$ . Now we would like to have

$$\mathcal{G}(L^1 + \dot{B}_{q'}^{-d/p,p'}) \hookrightarrow (\mathcal{G}(L^1 + \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r,r'}), \mathcal{G}(L^1 + \dot{W}^{-d/2,2}))_{\theta}, \tag{6}$$

and combining this with (5), we would get via the closed range theorem the fact that for any vector field  $v \in \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  there exists another vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  of the same divergence as v. However, computing explicitly the left hand side of (5) or proving (6) only by interpolation theory is a quite difficult task. Naively we may have the following strategy for proving (6). We can observe that, since we have the embeddings  $L^1, \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r,r'} \hookrightarrow L^1 + \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r,r'}$  and  $L^1, \dot{W}^{-d/2,2} \hookrightarrow L^1 + \dot{W}^{-d/2,2}$ , we can conclude by interpolation that

$$L^1, \dot{B}_{q'}^{-d/p,p'} \hookrightarrow (L^1 + \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r,r'}, L^1 + \dot{W}^{-d/2,2})_{\theta}$$

or equivalently

$$L^{1} + \dot{B}_{q'}^{-d/p,p'} \hookrightarrow (L^{1} + \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r,r'}, L^{1} + \dot{W}^{-d/2,2})_{\theta}.$$

Consequently,

$$\mathcal{G}(L^1 + \dot{B}_{q'}^{-d/p,p'}) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{G}(L^1 + \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r,r'}, L^1 + \dot{W}_{\theta}^{-d/2,2}).$$

Hence, in order to obtain (6) it would be sufficient to have

$$\mathcal{G}((L^{1} + \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r,r'}, L^{1} + \dot{W}^{-d/2,2})_{\theta}) \hookrightarrow (\mathcal{G}(L^{1} + \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r,r'}), \mathcal{G}(L^{1} + \dot{W}^{-d/2,2}))_{\theta},$$

or, equivalently, since the other embedding is trivial,

$$\mathcal{G}((L^1 + \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r,r'}, L^1 + \dot{W}^{-d/2,2})_{\theta}) = (\mathcal{G}(L^1 + \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r,r'}), \mathcal{G}(L^1 + \dot{W}^{-d/2,2}))_{\theta}.$$
(7)

We can further reformulate this fact as

$$\mathcal{N} \cap (Y_0, Y_1)_{\theta} = (\mathcal{N} \cap Y_0, \mathcal{N} \cap Y_1)_{\theta}, \qquad (8)$$

where  $Y_0 = L^1 + \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-d/r,r'}$ ,  $Y_1 = L^1 + \dot{W}^{-d/2,2}$  and  $\mathcal{N}$  is the spaces of the fields in  $Y_0 + Y_1$  that are gradients, i.e,  $\mathcal{N} := \mathcal{G}(Y_0 + Y_1)$ . The difficulty of proving (7) consists in the fact that, for the general situation when  $Y_0$ ,  $Y_1$ ,  $\mathcal{N}$  are Banach spaces the question whether or not (8) holds does not have yet a satisfactory answer. If we replace the complex interpolation method in (8) with the real K-method of interpolation, then, (8) may be false for some particular choice of the spaces  $Y_0$ ,  $Y_1$ ,  $\mathcal{N}$  (see for instance [15]). In the case of the complex interpolation method it seems that even less is known when (8) is valid.

This naive interpolation strategy seems inappropriate to prove (6) or even a weaker statement like

$$\mathcal{G}(L^1 + \dot{B}_1^{-d/p,p'}) \hookrightarrow (\mathcal{G}(L^1 + \dot{B}_\infty^{-d/r,r'}), \mathcal{G}(L^1 + \dot{W}^{-d/2,2}))_{\theta},$$

which corresponds to the following existence result:

**Proposition 6.** Let  $d \ge 2$  be an integer and consider some parameters  $p \in (2, \infty)$  and  $q \in (1, 2)$ . Then, for any vector field  $v \in S'(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  there exists a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_{\infty}^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

$$\operatorname{div} u = \operatorname{div} v,$$

and

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}\cap \dot{B}^{d/p,p}_{\infty}} \lesssim \|v\|_{\dot{B}^{d/p,p}_{a}}.$$

#### 1.3 The main results

In this paper we take into consideration the spectrum of solutions. In what follows, the spectrum of a tempered distribution v is its Fourier support, i.e.,  $spec(v) := supp \widehat{\Delta v}$  (see Remark 14 for a more general definition). Adapted to the case of the divergence equation, our main result reads:

**Theorem 7.** Let  $d \geq 3$  be an integer and consider the set  $\Delta := \mathbb{R}^d \setminus (-\infty, 0)^d$ . Consider some parameters  $p \in [2, \infty)$  and  $q \in (1, 2)$ . Then, for any vector field  $v \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , with  $spec(v) \subseteq \Delta$  there exists a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_2^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , with  $spec(u) \subseteq \Delta$  such that

$$\operatorname{div} u = \operatorname{div} v, \tag{9}$$

and

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}\cap \dot{B}_{2}^{d/p,p}} \lesssim ||v||_{\dot{B}_{q}^{d/p,p}}.$$

In the case where d = 2 our method does not provide solutions with the spectrum in  $\Delta$ . Nevertheless, one can obtain solutions with the spectrum in a different type of sets. For each  $\delta \in (0, \pi/4)$  let  $C_{\delta}$  be the symmetric cone

$$C_{\delta} := \{ (\xi_1, \xi_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid |\xi_1| \le (\tan \delta) \, |\xi_2| \}.$$

With this notation we have:

**Theorem 8.** Consider the numbers  $\delta \in (0, \pi/8)$ ,  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$  and some parameters  $p \in [2, \infty)$  and  $q \in (1, 2)$ . Then, for any vector field  $v \in S'(\mathbb{R}^2) \cap \dot{B}_q^{2/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , with  $\operatorname{spec}(v) \subseteq C_{\delta}$ , there exists a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2) \cap \dot{B}_2^{2/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , with  $\operatorname{spec}(u) \subseteq C_{(1+\varepsilon)\delta}$ , such that

$$\operatorname{div} u = \operatorname{div} v_{i}$$

and

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}\cap \dot{B}_{2}^{2/p,p}} \lesssim \|v\|_{\dot{B}_{q}^{2/p,p}}$$

When compared with Theorem 3 one can observe that Theorem 7 (or Theorem 8) has two major drawbacks. First, we are not alowed to take p < 2 or  $q \ge 2$  as parameters for the space  $\dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$  on the source side. Secondly, for the space in which we obtain the solution we lose some control of the "third parameter". In other words, we would prefer to obtain  $L^{\infty} \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$  for the solution space instead of  $L^{\infty} \cap \dot{B}_2^{d/p,p}$  which is a slightly larger space. (See however, Lemma 35 for a "perfect" version of our results in the case p = q = 2.) On the other hand it is unlikely that one can deduce Theorem 7 directly from Theorem 3. Indeed, given a vector field  $v \in \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$ , with  $spec(v) \subseteq \Delta$ , by Theorem 3 one can find some vector field  $u \in L^{\infty} \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$  such that div u = div v, however, not necessarly with  $spec(u) \subseteq \Delta$ . It is not obvious that one can obtain a solution u with  $spec(u) \subseteq \Delta$  by direct methods: suppose  $P_{\Delta}$  is the Fourier projection on  $\Delta$ , i.e.,  $P_{\Delta} = I - P_+$ , where  $P_+$  is the Riesz projection and I is the identity operator. We have  $P_{\Delta}v = v$  and we can write

$$\operatorname{div} P_{\Delta} u = \operatorname{div} v.$$

However, since  $P_D$  is not bounded on  $L^{\infty}$ , we may not have  $P_{\Delta}u \in L^{\infty}$ , i.e.,  $P_{\Delta}u$  is not in general a candidate for a solution. The same observation applies to or Theorem 8. To our knowledge, except for the method we give in this paper, there is no other method in the literature able to prove results like Theorem 7 or Theorem 8.

In fact, when  $d \ge 3$ , we will prove a more general result than Theorem 7. Our methods alow us to work with more general Fourier multipliers than the usual derivatives. In order to formulate our result we first need some preparations.

Let  $\sigma \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$  be a function. We consider the following properties (that may or not be satisfied by  $\sigma$ ):

(P1) The function  $\sigma$  satisfies the estimate

$$\left|\nabla^{\alpha}\sigma(\xi)\right| \lesssim \left|\xi\right|^{1-|\alpha|},$$

on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , for any multiindex  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d$  with  $|\alpha| \leq 2$ ;

(P2) The function  $\sigma$  is odd in the variable  $\xi_1$  and even in any other variable, i.e.,

$$\sigma(\epsilon_1\xi_1, \epsilon_2\xi_2, \dots, \epsilon_d\xi_d) = \epsilon_1\sigma(\xi_1, \xi_2, \dots, \xi_d),$$

on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , for any signs  $\epsilon_1, ..., \epsilon_d \in \{-1, 1\}$ .

Introduce the new functions  $\sigma_1, ..., \sigma_d$  defined by

$$\sigma_j(\xi_1,\xi_2,...,\xi_d) := \sigma(\xi_j,\xi_2,...\xi_{j-1},\xi_1,\xi_{j+1}...,\xi_d),$$

on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , for any index  $j \in \{1, 2, ..., d\}$ .

Consider some half-spaces  $D_1, ..., D_d \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  and a family of functions  $G_1, ..., G_d : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ . We say that the function  $G_j$  is *adapted* to the half-space  $D_j$  if there exists a rotation R on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ (depending on j) and a function  $\sigma : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  (depending on j) satisfying (P1), (P2) such that  $D_j = R(U)$ , where  $U := \mathbb{R}^{d-1} \times (0, \infty)$ , and

$$G_j = (\sigma_1 \circ R, ..., \sigma_{d-1} \circ R)$$

We say that the family of functions  $G_1, ..., G_d : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$  is *adapted* to the family of halfspaces  $D_1, ..., D_d \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ , if for each  $j \in \{1, ..., d\}$  the function  $G_j$  is adapted to  $D_j$  and

$$\sum_{j=1}^{d} |G_j(\xi)| \mathbf{1}_{D_j}(\xi) \sim |\xi| \mathbf{1}_D(\xi),$$
(10)

on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , where  $D := \bigcup_{j=1}^d D_j$ .

Let us recall now some standard notation concerning the Fourier multipliers. To a scalar valued function  $m \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}, \mathbb{R})$  we associate the Fourier multiplier  $m(\nabla)$  defined by the relation

$$\widehat{m(\nabla)f(\xi)} := m(\xi)\widehat{f(\xi)},$$

on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , for any Schwartz function f whose Fourier transform  $\widehat{f}$  is compactly supported and vanishing in a neighborhood of 0. In most of the cases one can extend the meaning of  $m(\nabla)$  as follows. Let us denote by  $\mathcal{S}_{c,\sharp}$  the space of all Schwartz function f whose Fourier transform  $\widehat{f}$  is compactly supported and vanishing in a neighborhood of 0. Suppose E and F are some Banach function spaces on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that  $\mathcal{S}_{c,\sharp}$  is dense in E and

$$\|m(\nabla)f\|_F \lesssim \|f\|_E,$$

for any  $f \in S_{c,\sharp}$ . Then, by linearity and density  $m(\nabla)$  can be uniquely extended to a bounded operator  $m(\nabla) : E \to F$  (see also Remark 13). We will often say that m is the symbol of the Fourier multiplier  $m(\nabla)$ .

To a vector valued function  $G : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ , with  $G = (G^1, ..., G^{d-1})$ , where  $G^1, ..., G^{d-1} : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  are scalar functions of polynomial growth, we associate the vector-valued Fourier multiplier

$$G(\nabla) := (G^1(\nabla), ..., G^{d-1}(\nabla)).$$

In other words, if  $f \in \mathcal{S}_{c,\sharp}$ , by  $G(\nabla)f$  we mean

$$G(\nabla)f := (G^1(\nabla)f, ..., G^{d-1}(\nabla)f).$$

Suppose  $u^1, ..., u^{d-1} \in S_{c,\sharp}$  and let u be the (d-1)-vector field<sup>2</sup>  $u := (u^1, ..., u^{d-1})$ . By  $G(\nabla) \cdot u$  we mean

$$G(\nabla) \cdot u := G^1(\nabla)u^1 + \ldots + G^{d-1}(\nabla)u^{d-1}$$

Now we can formulate our generalisation of Theorem 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In this paper the distributions with d-1 components will be called (d-1)-vector fields.

**Theorem 9.** Let  $d \geq 3$  be an integer and consider some parameters  $p \in [2, \infty)$  and  $q \in (1, 2)$ . Suppose that the family of functions  $G_1, ..., G_d : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$  is adapted to the family of half-spaces  $D_1, ..., D_d \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ .

Then, for any system of (d-1)-vector fields  $(v_j)_{j=1,\dots,d}$  with  $v_j \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $spec(v_j) \subseteq D_j$ , there exists a system of (d-1)-vector fields  $(u_j)_{j=1,\dots,d}$ , with  $u_j \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_2^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $spec(u_j) \subseteq D_j$ , such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{d} G_j(\nabla) \cdot u_j = \sum_{j=1}^{d} G_j(\nabla) \cdot v_j, \qquad (11)$$

and

$$\sum_{j=1}^{d} \|u_j\|_{L^{\infty} \cap \dot{B}_2^{d/p,p}} \lesssim \sum_{j=1}^{d} \|v_j\|_{\dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}}$$

In this paper equations such as (9) or (11) will be called *divergence-like* equations.

In subsection 5.1 we will see that Theorem 9 easily implies Theorem 7.

#### 1.4 About the proofs

Our proofs of Theorem 9, Theorem 7 and Theorem 8 are based on two ingredients:

1. The W-method of interpolation. This is the key method that we are using throughout the paper. Let  $(A_0, A_1)$  and  $(B_0, B_1)$  be Banach couples and  $T : A_0 + A_1 \rightarrow B_0 + B_1$  be a linear operator such that  $T(B_j) \rightarrow T(A_j)$ , for any j = 0, 1. Suppose we want to see under which conditions on the spaces involved and the operator T we have

$$T\left(F_{\theta}^{1}\left(B_{0}, B_{1}\right)\right) \hookrightarrow T\left(F_{\theta}^{2}\left(A_{0}, A_{1}\right)\right),\tag{12}$$

for some  $\theta$ -interpolation functors  $F_{\theta}^1$ ,  $F_{\theta}^2$ . One can say that, in some sense, we "interpolate" linear equations or that we preserve some form of surjectivity of the operator T. In order to give reasonable sufficient conditions for (12) to hold for some convenient interpolation functors we introduce a variant of the complex interpolation method which will be called the W-method<sup>3</sup>. In our case  $F_{\theta}^1$  will be given by the usual complex method of interpolation and  $F_{\theta}^2$  will be given by our W-method. Roughly speaking this method consists in the following. Suppose  $(A_0, A_1)$  is a compatible couple of Banach spaces. In order to define the interpolation space of the couple  $(A_0, A_1)$  via the W-method we use the three lines lemma on the strip as in the standard complex method of interpolation. However, instead of quantifying the endpoint regularity of the analytic functions involved via the norms  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, A_j)$  (j = 0, 1) we use slightly more complicated quantities that depend on some prescribed pair of Banach spaces  $(X_0, X_1)$ . In this way, for each  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ , we obtain an interpolation space that will be denoted by  $(A_0, X_0 | A_1, X_1)_{\theta}$ . The efficiency of the W-method relies (between other facts) on properly choosing the spaces  $X_0, X_1$ .

When the spaces  $X_j$  have the *UMD* property, under some additional embedding assumptions concerning the Banach spaces involved, the *W*-method of interpolation preserves the "surjectivity" of operators (i.e., (12) holds). The main requirements for applying the *W*-method are twofold:

(i) On one hand one needs to verify some embedding conditions for the domains and the co-domains of the operator. We give some simple necessary conditions that are easy to formulate, however not sharp. We also mention that, in the absence of any such conditions, it is not possible to preserve surjectivity (see the examples in the second part of subsection 3.3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Here, " $\mathcal{W}$ " stands for "weak".

(ii) On the other hand explicitly computing the space  $(A_0, X_0 | A_1, X_1)_{\theta}$  seems to be difficult in practice. However, there are particular situations in which we can embed  $(A_0, X_0 | A_1, X_1)_{\theta}$  in some convenient space. More precisely, when  $A_j$  are of the form  $A_j = A \cap X_j$ , for some Banach space A, we have

$$(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)_{\theta} = (A \cap X_0, X_0 \mid A \cap X_1, X_1)_{\theta} \hookrightarrow A \cap (X_0, X_1)_{\theta}.$$

For instance, when we have  $X_0 = \dot{B}_2^{d/r,r}$ ,  $X_1 = \dot{B}_2^{d/2,2}$  and  $A = L^{\infty}$ , the above embedding becomes

$$(L^{\infty} \cap \dot{B}_{2}^{d/r,r}, \dot{B}_{2}^{d/p,p} \mid L^{\infty} \cap \dot{B}_{2}^{d/2,2}, \dot{B}_{2}^{d/2,2})_{\theta} \hookrightarrow L^{\infty} \cap (\dot{B}_{2}^{d/r,r}, \dot{B}_{2}^{d/2,2})_{\theta}$$

By using only the result of Mazya (Theorem 3 in the case p = q = 2) and the  $\mathcal{W}$ -method together with the embedding  $\dot{B}_1^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  we easily obtain the following:

**Theorem 10.** Let  $d \geq 2$  be an integer and consider some parameters  $p \in [2, \infty)$  and  $q \in (1, 2)$ . Then, for any vector field  $v \in S'(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  there exists a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_2^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

$$\operatorname{div} u = \operatorname{div} v,$$

and

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}\cap \dot{B}_{2}^{d/p,p}} \lesssim \|v\|_{\dot{B}_{q}^{d/p,p}}$$

One can even obtain an analogue of Theorem 10 for a class of Lorentz-Sobolev spaces (for definitions see subsection 2.2). Namely, by using only the result of Mazya and the W-method, together with some standard facts in the theory of Lorentz spaces, we easily obtain the following:

**Theorem 11.** Let  $d \geq 2$  be an integer and consider some parameters  $p \in [2, \infty)$  and  $q \in (1, 2)$ . Then, for any vector field  $v \in S'(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{W}^{d/p}L^{p,3/2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  there exists a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{W}^{d/p}L^{p,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

$$\operatorname{div} u = \operatorname{div} v,$$

and

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}\cap \dot{W}^{d/p}L^{p,2}} \lesssim \|v\|_{\dot{W}^{d/p}L^{p,q}}.$$

The conditions  $p \ge 2$  and q < 2 in Theorem 10, Theorem 11, as well as in Theorem 7 and Theorem 9, are induced by some technical limitations of the W-method (see subsection 5.2).

2. The Bourgain-Brézis technique. In [5, Section 4, p. 403] Bourgain and Brézis proved the torus analogue of Theorem 3 in the case where p = q = d = 2. They concluded the existence of solutions for the divergence equation by duality. Namely, they proved that (see [5, Lemma 2, p. 403])

$$\|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})} \lesssim \|\nabla u\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{T}^{2}) + W^{-1,2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}, \qquad (13)$$

for any  $u \in L^1(\mathbb{T}^2)$ , with  $\hat{u}(0) = 0$ . In order to obtain this, they used the following key estimate (see [5, (4.20), p. 405]):

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0\}} \left. \frac{n_1 n_2}{\left| n \right|^4} \sin n_1 \theta_1 \sin n_2 \theta_2 \right| \le C,$$

uniformly in  $\theta_1, \theta_2 \in \mathbb{T}$ , for some numerical constant C > 0. By convexity this allows us to write

$$\left| \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0\}} \frac{n_1 n_2}{|n|^4} \widehat{F_1}(n) \widehat{F_2}(n) \right| \le C \|F_1\|_{L^1(\mathbb{T}^2)} \|F_2\|_{L^1(\mathbb{T}^2)},$$

for any  $F_1, F_2 \in L^1(\mathbb{T}^2)$ . Thanks to this bilinear estimate, after decomposing  $\nabla u$  in the space  $L^1(\mathbb{T}^2) + W^{-1,2}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ , we can deal with the space  $L^1(\mathbb{T}^2)$  in (13).

We use the technique introduced by Bourgain and Brézis in [5, Section 4, p. 403] and we prove a version of Theorem 9 (and Theorem 8) in the case where the source space is  $\dot{W}^{d/2,2}$ . As we will see, thanks to this technique we are able to work with more general Fourier multipliers than derivatives. Also, it is this technique that allows us to gain some control on the Fourier spectrum of solutions. The results obtained by this method are "perfect" in the sense that that the source space is  $\dot{W}^{d/2,2}$  and the solution space is  $L^{\infty} \cap \dot{W}^{d/2,2}$ ; there is no loss of regularity in the third parameter. The drawback of this technique is the fact that it does not apply to the case where  $p \neq 2$ .

As in the case of Theorem 10, we can easily obtain Theorem 9 using the W-method. This time however, insted of using Mazya's result we use the more general results that we obtain via the Bourgain-Brézis technique. Using the properties of Lorentz spaces we can give a Lorentz-Sobolev version of Theorem 9. In fact, our methods will provide more general results. On one hand the function spaces we work with can be more general than those in the statements of our final results (see for instance Theorem 37). One the other hand, the conditions imposed on Fourier multipliers and the Fourier spectrum of the solutions can be more general. Also, by using the technique of Mazya, one can easily obtain a version of Theorem 3 in the case p = q = 2 that concerns general Hodge systems. Combining this result with the W-method one can obtain an analogue of Theorem 10 for Hodge systems. We will not consider however, such issues here. In this paper, we limit ourselves to some model situations that are easier to describe.

**Notation.** Throughout the paper we use mainly standard notation. For instance, we often use the symbols  $\leq$  and  $\sim$ . For two nonnegative variable quantities a and b we write  $a \leq b$  if there exists a constant C > 0 such that  $a \leq Cb$ . If  $a \leq b$  and  $b \leq a$ , then we write  $a \sim b$ . For simplicity we denote by spec(f) the Fourier spectrum of a tempered distribution f; in other words,  $spec(f) = supp \hat{f}$ . Everywhere in this paper  $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is the space of tempered distributions. When X is a function space on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $u = (u_1, ..., u_d)$  is a vector filed on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  where each  $u_j$  belongs to X, we write  $u \in X$  instead of  $u \in X^d$ . A similar convention will be made for the (d-1)-vector fields. Other notation will be introduced when needed.

## 2 Function spaces

In this section we quickly recall the definition and some properties of some standard function spaces.

#### 2.1 Sobolev and Besov spaces

Let  $S_{\sharp}$  be the space of all Schwartz functions f on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that  $\hat{f}$  vanishes in a neighborhood of 0. When  $1 and <math>\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  the homogeneous space  $\dot{W}^{\alpha,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is obtained by completion of  $S_{\sharp}$  under the norm

$$\|f\|_{\dot{W}^{\alpha,p}} := \||\nabla|^{\alpha} f\|_{L^{p}}.$$

We can see that we can also define the above homogeneous spaces  $\dot{W}^{\alpha,p}$  by completion of the the normed function spaces  $\dot{W}^{\alpha,p}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ . Here,  $\dot{W}^{\alpha,p}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  is the space of all the compactly supported functions whose  $\dot{W}^{\alpha,p}$ -norm is finite. The spaces  $\dot{W}^{\alpha,p}$  as defined here are complete.

We continue by briefly recalling the definition of the Besov spaces (we do not define here the Triebel-Lizorkin spaces; see [24] for details). Consider a radial function  $\Phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

 $supp \ \Phi \subset B(0,2)$  and  $\Phi \equiv 1$  on B(0,1). For  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  we define the operators  $P_k$ , acting on the space of tempered distributions on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , by the relation

$$\widehat{P_k f}\left(\xi\right) := \left(\Phi\left(\frac{\xi}{2^k}\right) - \Phi\left(\frac{\xi}{2^{k-1}}\right)\right)\widehat{f}\left(\xi\right),\tag{14}$$

for any Schwartz function f on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . The operators  $P_k$  will be called *Littlewood-Paley "projections"* adapted to  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . For any Schwartz function f we have that

$$f = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} P_k f,$$

in the sense of tempered distributions. The homogeneous Besov space  $\dot{B}_q^{\alpha,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  (with  $1 \leq p, q \leq \infty$ and  $\alpha$  a real number) is obtained by completion of  $\mathcal{S}_{\sharp}$  under the norm

$$||f||_{\dot{B}_{q}^{\alpha,p}} := \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{\alpha kq} ||P_{k}f||_{L^{p}}^{q}\right)^{1/q}$$

We have  $\dot{B}_2^{\alpha,2}(\mathbb{R}^d) = \dot{W}^{\alpha,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with equivalent norms.

The main advantage of our definition of the homogeneous Besov spaces is the fact that, whenever  $\alpha_0 - d/p_0 = \alpha_1 - d/p_1$  and  $\alpha_1 > \alpha_0$  we have the embedding

$$\dot{B}_{q_1}^{\alpha_1,p_1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \hookrightarrow \dot{B}_{q_0}^{\alpha_0,p_0}(\mathbb{R}^d),\tag{15}$$

for any  $q_0, q_1 \in [1, \infty)$  with  $q_0 \leq q_1$ .

Note that we have the following dilation properties:

$$\|f(\lambda\cdot)\|_{\dot{B}^{\alpha,p}_q} \sim \lambda^{\alpha-d/p} \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{\alpha,p}_q}, \qquad (16)$$

for any  $f \in \dot{B}_q^{\alpha,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  respectively and any  $\lambda > 0$ . In particular, when  $\alpha = d/p$  the spaces  $\dot{B}_q^{\alpha,p}$  have the same scaling property as  $L^{\infty}$ . In what follows the spaces of the form  $\dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$  will be called critical. It is worth recalling here, that, by a direct application of the Bernstein inequalities we get the embedding  $\dot{B}_1^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . When q > 1 the critical spaces  $\dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$  do not embed in  $L^{\infty}$ .

**Remark 12.** Note that the spaces  $\dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$  (with q > 1) as defined here contain elements that are not tempered distributions. However, when  $\alpha < d/p$  the elements of the space  $\dot{B}_q^{\alpha,p}$  are all tempered distributions (see for instance [1, Remark 2.26, p. 68] or [3]).

**Remark 13.** Since the operator div :  $S_{\sharp} \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p} \to \dot{B}_q^{d/p-1,p}$  is linear and bounded (here,  $S_{\sharp} \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$  is endowed with the norm induced by  $\dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$ ), by density of  $S_{\sharp} \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$  in  $\dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$  it extends uniquely to an operator div :  $\dot{B}_q^{d/p,p} \to \dot{B}_q^{d/p-1,p}$ . Similar facts hold for other spaces and other operators. In this way we can remove from the hypotheses of Theorem 7, Theorem 8 and Theorem 9 the fact that the source v belongs to S'. For instance (9) will be understood as an equality of two elements in  $\dot{B}_2^{d/p-1,p}$ . This formulation is the one that we prefer throughout the paper.

**Remark 14.** One can define the spectrum of an element  $v \in \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$  in the following way. Note that the operator  $\Delta : S_{\sharp} \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p} \to \dot{B}_q^{d/p-2,p}$  is linear and bounded. Hence, by density of  $S_{\sharp} \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$  in  $\dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$  it extends uniquely to an operator  $\Delta : \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p} \to \dot{B}_q^{d/p-2,p}$ . According to Remark 12 all the elements of  $\dot{B}_q^{d/p-2,p}$  are tempered distributions. Now, if  $v \in \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$ , then  $\Delta v \in \dot{B}_q^{d/p-2,p}$  is a tempered distribution and we can define the spectrum of v as  $spec(v) := supp \ \widehat{\Delta v}$ . This observation will be applied for other function spaces as well.

It is easy to see that any space of the form  $\dot{B}_q^{\alpha,p}$  with  $p, q \in (1, \infty)$  is embedded in  $l_q^{\alpha}(L^p)$  and hence it has the *UMD* property (see for instance [20]).

#### 2.2 Lorentz-Sobolev spaces

Consider<sup>4</sup> some parameters  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in [1, \infty]$  and  $\alpha \ge 0$ . The homogeneous Lorentz-Sobolev spaces  $\dot{W}^{\alpha}L^{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is the completion of the normed space of Schwartz functions f on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  under the norm

$$\|f\|_{\dot{W}^{\alpha}L^{p,q}} := \||\nabla|^{\alpha}f\|_{L^{p,q}}$$

where  $L^{p,q}$  is the usual Lorentz space of parameters p and q.

**Remark 15.** One can easily adapt the Remarks 12, 13 and 14 to the case of the Lorentz-Sobolev spaces.

Many of the embedding properties of the Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces hold for the Lorentz-Sobolev spaces (see for instance [23] for detailes). We mention below some properties of Lorentz-Sobolev spaces that will be needed in the proof of Theorem 11. All of them are direct consequences of well-known facts from the theory of Lorentz spaces.

**Lemma 16.** For any  $r \in [2, \infty)$ , we have that

$$\dot{W}^{d/2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d) \hookrightarrow \dot{W}^{d/r} L^{r,2}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

**Proof.** It is a consequence of the improved Sobolev embedding (see for instance [26, Theorem 2.10.2, p. 98]) that

$$\|f\|_{L^{r,2}} \lesssim \left\| |\nabla|^{d(1/2-1/r)} f \right\|_{L^2}$$

for any Schwartz function f on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . This can be rewritten as

$$\|f\|_{\dot{W}^{d/r}L^{r,2}} = \left\| |\nabla|^{d/r} f \right\|_{L^{r,2}} \lesssim \left\| |\nabla|^{d/2} f \right\|_{L^{2}} = \|f\|_{\dot{W}^{d/2,2}},$$

obtaining that  $\dot{W}^{d/2,2} \hookrightarrow \dot{W}^{d/r} L^{r,2}$ .

**Lemma 17.** For any  $r \in (1, \infty)$ , we have that

$$\dot{W}^{d/r}L^{r,1}(\mathbb{R}^d) \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

**Proof.** For any Schwartz function f on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  we have that

$$\|I_{d/r} * f\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^{r,1}},$$
 (17)

where  $I_{d/r}(x) = |x|^{d/p-d} = |x|^{-d/p'}$ , for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . Indeed, using [13, Theorem 1.4.17 (v), p. 52], we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{f(y)}{|x-y|^{d/r'}} dy \le \left\| I_{d/r} \right\|_{(L^{r,1})^*} \|f\|_{L^{r,1}} = \left\| I_{d/r} \right\|_{L^{r',\infty}} \|f\|_{L^{r,1}},$$

and we can easily see that

$$\|I_{d/r}\|_{L^{r',\infty}} = \sup_{\lambda>0} \lambda \left| \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid |x| < (1/\lambda)^{r'/d} \right\} \right|^{1/r'} \sim 1.$$

Hence, (17) holds. We can reformulate (17) as

$$\|f\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \left\| |\nabla|^{d/r} f \right\|_{L^{r,1}} = \|f\|_{\dot{W}^{d/r}L^{r,1}},$$

This shows that  $\dot{W}^{d/r}L^{r,1} \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The results of this subsection will be used only in the proof of Theorem 11.

**Lemma 18.** Suppose  $p_0, p_1, q_0, q_1 \in [1, \infty)$  and  $\alpha_0, \alpha_1 \geq 0$ . Then, for any  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  we have

$$(\dot{W}^{\alpha_0}L^{p_0,q_0}(\mathbb{R}^d), \dot{W}^{\alpha_1}L^{p_1,q_1}(\mathbb{R}^d))_{\theta} = \dot{W}^{\alpha}L^{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^d),$$
(18)

where  $\alpha = (1 - \theta)\alpha_0 + \theta\alpha_1$ ,  $1/p = (1 - \theta)/p_0 + \theta/p_1$  and  $1/q = (1 - \theta)/q_0 + \theta/q_1$ .

**Proof.** This can be proved by Stein's method of interpolation (see for instance [13, Theorem 1.3.7, p. 37]) as follows. Note that the function  $\xi \to |\xi|^{it}$  defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$  satisfies

$$\left| \nabla^{k} \left| \xi \right|^{it} \right| \le C(1 + |t|)^{d+2} \left| \xi \right|^{-k}$$

a.e. in  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$ , for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and any nonnegative integer  $k \leq d+2$ , where C is a positive constant depending only on d. It follows that (see [18, Theorem 8.2, p. 197]) for any  $a \in (1, \infty)$ , the norm of the operator  $|\nabla|^{it} : L^a \to L^a$  satisfies

$$\left\|\left|\nabla\right|^{it}\right\|_{L^a \to L^a} \lesssim_a C(1+|t|)^{d+2}$$

This implies, via the real method of interpolation (see for instance [2, Theorem 5.2.1 (2), p. 109 ]), that for any  $a \in (1, \infty)$  and any  $b \in [1, \infty]$ , we have

$$\left\| \left| \nabla \right|^{it} \right\|_{L^{a,b} \to L^{a,b}} \lesssim_{a,b} C(1+|t|)^{d+2}.$$
 (19)

Let us consider the analytic family of operators  $(T_z)_{z\in S}$  with

$$T_z := \left|\nabla\right|^{(1-z)\alpha_0 + z\alpha_1}$$

for all  $z \in S$ . Thanks to (19), the analytic family  $(T_z)_{z \in S}$  satisfies the hypothesis of [13, Theorem 1.3.7, p. 37]. Hence, we get

$$T_{\theta}(\dot{W}^{\alpha_0}L^{p_0,q_0}, \dot{W}^{\alpha_1}L^{p_1,q_1})_{\theta} \hookrightarrow (L^{p_0,q_0}, L^{p_1,q_1})_{\theta} = L^{p,q}$$

and, in a similar way (applying Stein's method for the family  $(T_{-z})_{z \in S}$ ),

$$T_{-\theta}(L^{p,q}) = T_{-\theta}(L^{p_0,q_0}, L^{p_1,q_1})_{\theta} \hookrightarrow (\dot{W}^{\alpha_0}L^{p_0,q_0}, \dot{W}^{\alpha_1}L^{p_1,q_1})_{\theta}.$$

Hence,

$$T_{\theta}(\dot{W}^{\alpha_0}L^{p_0,q_0},\dot{W}^{\alpha_1}L^{p_1,q_1})_{\theta} = L^{p,q}$$

and (18) is proven.

The spaces  $\dot{W}^{\alpha}L^{p,q}$  have scaling properties that are similar to those of the Besov spaces (see (16)). In particular, the spaces  $\dot{W}^{d/p}L^{p,q}$  have the same scaling as  $L^{\infty}$ . As we have seen in Lemma 17 we have  $\dot{W}^{d/p}L^{p,1} \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}$ . However, when q > 1 the critical spaces  $\dot{W}^{d/p}L^{p,q}$  do not embed in  $L^{\infty}$ .

Let us see that the spaces  $\dot{W}^{\alpha}L^{p,q}$  have the UMD property when  $p,q \in (1,\infty)$ . For this is sufficient to see that  $L^{p,q}$  has the UMD property. Consider some  $p_0, p_1 \in (1,\infty)$  such that  $p_0 . Since, <math>L^{p_0}$  and  $L^{p_1}$  are UMD spaces, by Burkholder's theorem (see [9]) the Hilbert transform is bounded on  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, L^{p_0})$  and  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, L^{p_1})$  respectively. Hence, the Hilbert transform is bounded on the space

$$(L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, L^{p_{0}}), L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, L^{p_{1}}))_{\eta, q} = L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, (L^{p_{0}}, L^{p_{1}})_{\eta, q})$$
  
=  $L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, L^{p, q}),$ 

where  $\eta \in (0, 1)$  is such that  $1/p = (1 - \eta)/p_0 + \eta/p_1$  (see for instance [2, Theorem 5.6.2, p. 123]). By Bourgain's theorem ([4]), we get that  $L^{p,q}$  has the *UMD* property.

#### 2.3 Some quotient spaces

Let Y be a Banach function space on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and let  $D \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$  be a measurable set. Relative to the set D we define the closed subspace  $Y_D$  of Y by

$$Y_D := \{ f \in Y \mid spec(f) \subseteq D \},\$$

the norm being the one induced by Y. For simplicity we will denote the quotient space  $Y/Y_{D^c}$  by Y/D. In the case where  $f \in Y$  is a Schwartz function, we define its Y/D-seminorm by

$$||f||_{Y/D} := \inf_{f^- \in Y_{D^c}} ||f + f^-||_Y$$

In this paper we will work with quotient spaces of the form  $\dot{W}^{\alpha,2}/D$  and  $(L^1 + \dot{W}^{\alpha,2})/D$ . One can easily see that for  $Y = \dot{W}^{\alpha,2}$  or  $Y = L^1 + \dot{W}^{\alpha,2}$  we have the following norming property

$$\sup_{\|f\|_{Y/D} \le 1} \left\langle f, g \right\rangle = \left\| g \right\|_{Y^*},$$

for any  $g \in Y_D^*$ , where the supremum is taken over all Schwartz functions f with  $||f||_{Y/D} \leq 1$ .

In the case where Y is the Sobolev space  $\dot{W}^{\alpha,2}$  it is easy to compute the seminorm induced by Y/D. Namely, let us see that for any  $u \in S_{\sharp}$  and any measurable set  $D \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$  we have

$$\|u\|_{\dot{W}^{\alpha,2}/D} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\xi|^{2\alpha} \mathbf{1}_D(\xi) |\hat{u}(\xi)|^2 d\xi\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (20)

Indeed, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{\dot{W}^{\alpha,2}/D}^{2} &= \inf_{v \in \dot{W}_{D^{c}}^{\alpha,2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |\xi|^{2\alpha} |\widehat{u}(\xi) + \widehat{v}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi \\ &= \int_{D} |\xi|^{2\alpha} |\widehat{u}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi + \inf_{v \in \dot{W}_{D^{c}}^{\alpha,2}} \int_{D^{c}} |\xi|^{2\alpha} |\widehat{u}(\xi) + \widehat{v}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi \\ &= \int_{D} |\xi|^{2\alpha} |\widehat{u}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi. \end{aligned}$$

We recall that, by  $P_D$  we denote the Fourier projection on the set D, i.e., we have

$$\widehat{P_D f}(\xi) = \mathbf{1}_D(\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi),$$

for any  $\xi \in \mathbf{R}^d$  and any Schwartz function f. Note that, in the case where  $D = (0, \infty)^d$  the operator  $P_{(0,\infty)^d}$  is the Riesz projection. In this case we will write  $P_+$  in the place of  $P_{(0,\infty)^d}$ .

## 3 The *W*-method of complex interpolation

In this section we introduce a variant of the complex interpolation and we prove several of its properties. We call this new method of interpolation the W-method and, as stated in the introduction (see subsection 1.4), this will be used in the proof of Theorem 9, Theorem 7, Theorem 8, Theorem 11. We mainly study here only the properties of the W-method that are used in the proof of our main results. In subsection 3.1 we show that the W-method is indeed an interpolation method. However, we ignore some issues specific to the interpolation methods in general such as

computing dual interpolation spaces or reiteration theorems. These problems do not concern us here.

An important aspect is the relation of the  $\mathcal{W}$ -method with the classical complex method. We do not know in general how to compute efficiently the interpolation spaces obtained via the  $\mathcal{W}$ -method. However, as we will see in subsection 3.2 the space obtained via the  $\mathcal{W}$ -method is, in many "convenient" cases, the same as the space obtained via the classical complex method.

The main feature of the  $\mathcal{W}$ -method is that one can use it to "interpolate" linear equations. It is one of the main ingredients that enter in the proof of our main results and it is the final goal of this section.

#### **3.1** Construction of the interpolation space

We describe here the W-method and prove some basic properties. The proofs we give are straightforward adaptations of those that correspond to the classical complex interpolation as found in [2, Chapter 4]. Following the general presentation in [2, Chapter 4] let us introduce now the W-method.

For the beginning, fix two Banach spaces  $X_0$  and  $X_1$  and suppose  $(A_0, A_1)$  is a Banach couple. Let  $\mathcal{F}^2 = \mathcal{F}^2(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$  be the linear space of all bounded continuous functions f with values in  $A_0 + A_1$ , defined on the strip

$$S := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} \mid 0 \le \Re z \le 1 \},\$$

that are analytic in the open strip

$$S_0 := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} \mid 0 < \Re z < 1 \},\$$

and moreover, such that  $f(j+it) \in A_j$  for any j = 0, 1 and any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , and

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{F}^2} := \max_{j=0,1} \sup_{\|\Lambda_j\| \le 1} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|\Lambda_j f(j+it)\|_{X_j}^2 \, dt \right)^{1/2} < \infty, \tag{21}$$

where, for each  $j = 0, 1, \Lambda_j : A_j \to X_j$  are linear bounded operators. One can easily verify that  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{F}^2}$  defines a norm on  $\mathcal{F}^2$ .

Fix  $0 < \theta < 1$ . Consider the linear space  $C_{\theta}(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$  defined by

$$\mathcal{C}_{\theta}(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1) := \left\{ a \in A_0 + A_1 \mid a = f(\theta), \text{ for some } f \in \mathcal{F}^2(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1) \right\}$$

and define, for each  $a \in C_{\theta}(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$ , the quantity

$$||a||_{\theta} := \inf \left\{ ||f||_{\mathcal{F}^2} \mid a = f(\theta), \ f \in \mathcal{F}^2(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1) \right\}$$

**Lemma 19.** The mapping  $a \to ||a||_{\theta}$  is a norm on  $\mathcal{C}_{\theta}(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$ .

In order to prove Lemma 19 we rely on the following basic fact (and at least implicitely well-known):

**Lemma 20.** Fix some  $1 \le p < \infty$  and let Z be a Banach space. Suppose  $F: S \to Z$  is a bounded continuous function which is analytic in  $S_0$  such that the functions  $t \to F(j + it)$  belong to the space  $L^p(\mathbb{R},Z)$ .

Then, for any  $z \in S_0$ , we have

$$F(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{F(it)}{it - z} dt + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{F(1 + it)}{1 + it - z} dt.$$
 (22)

In particular, for any  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$\|F(\theta)\|_Z \lesssim_{\theta,p} \max_{j=0,1} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|F(j+it)\|_Z^p \, dt \right)^{1/p}.$$

$$(23)$$

**Proof of Lemma 20.** Fix some  $z \in S_0$ . Consider some arbitrary R > 0 and the curve  $\gamma_R$  given by the boundary of the rectangle  $[0, 1] \times [-R, R]$ , oriented anti-clockwise. For R sufficiently large we have  $z \in [0, 1] \times [-R, R]$ . By Cauchy's formula we get

$$F(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma_R} \frac{F(\zeta)}{\zeta - z} d\zeta$$

and we can rewrite this as

$$F(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-R}^{R} \frac{F(it)}{it - z} dt + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-R}^{R} \frac{F(1 + it)}{1 + it - z} dt + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{F(x + iR)}{x + iR - z} dx - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{F(x - iR)}{x - iR - z} dx.$$
(24)

Note that, the functions  $t \to F(j+it)/(j+it-\theta)$  belong to the space  $L^1(\mathbb{R}, Z)$ . Indeed, by Hölder's inequality (since we always have p' > 1) we can write

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left\| \frac{F(j+it)}{j+it-z} \right\|_{Z} dt \leq \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{|j+it-z|^{p'}} dt \right)^{1/p'} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|F(j+it)\|_{Z}^{p} dt \right)^{1/p} \\
\lesssim \theta_{z} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|F(j+it)\|_{Z}^{p} dt \right)^{1/p} < \infty,$$
(25)

with the natural modification in the case where  $p' = \infty$ .

Also,

$$\left\|\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_0^1 \frac{F\left(x \pm iR\right)}{x \pm iR - z} dx\right\|_Z \le \frac{1}{|x \pm iR - z|} \|F\|_{L^\infty(S,Z)} \to 0,\tag{26}$$

when  $R \to \infty$ .

Using (24), (26), letting  $R \to \infty$  and using the dominated convergence theorem, we get the representation formula (22). Using (22) and (25), for  $z = \theta$ , we obtain (23).

**Proof of Lemma 19.** Clearly,  $\|\cdot\|_{\theta}$  is a seminorm on  $C_{\theta}(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$ . It remains to see that, if  $\|a\|_{\theta} = 0$ , for some  $a \in C_{\theta}(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$ , then a = 0. We prove this by showing that

$$\|a\|_{A_0+A_1} \lesssim_{\theta} \|a\|_{\theta}, \qquad (27)$$

for all  $a \in C_{\theta}(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$ . For this purpose fix  $a \in C_{\theta}(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$  and consider a functional  $\lambda \in (A_0 + A_1)^*$ , with  $\|\lambda\| = 1$ , such that  $\|a\|_{A_0 + A_1} \leq 2\lambda(a)$ . Consider also a function  $f \in \mathcal{F}^2(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$ , such that  $f(\theta) = a$  and  $\|f\|_{\mathcal{F}^2} \leq 2 \|a\|_{\theta}$ .

Let us define, for each j = 0, 1, the linear operators  $\Lambda_j : A_j \to X_j$  by

$$\Lambda_j(a_j) = \lambda(a_j)e_j, \text{ for any } a_j \in A_j,$$

where  $e_j \in X_j$  are some fixed vectors with  $||e_j||_{X_j} = 1$ . Clearly, for any j = 0, 1,

$$\|\Lambda_j(a_j)\|_{X_j} = |\lambda(a_j)| \le \|a_j\|_{A_0+A_1} \le \|a_j\|_{A_j}$$

for any  $a_j \in A_j$ , and we get

 $\|\Lambda_j\| \le 1.$ 

Using this observation and introducing the function  $F: S \to \mathbb{C}$  defined by  $F(z) := \lambda(f(z))$ , one can write,

$$\max_{j=0,1} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} |F(j+it)|^2 dt \right)^{1/2} = \max_{j=0,1} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\lambda (f(j+it))|^2 dt \right)^{1/2} \\
= \max_{j=0,1} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|\Lambda_j (f(j+it))\|_{X_j}^2 dt \right)^{1/2} \\
\leq \|f\|_{\mathcal{F}^2} \leq 2 \|a\|_{\theta} < \infty.$$
(28)

This shows, in particular, that the functions  $t \to F(j + it)$  belong to the space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$ . We also see immediately that F is bounded, continuous on S and analytic in  $S_0$ . Hence, by applying Lemma 20 for  $Z = \mathbb{C}$  and p = 2 (more precisely (23)), using (28), we get

$$\|a\|_{A_0+A_1} \le 2\lambda(a) = 2F(\theta) \lesssim \max_{j=0,1} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} |F(j+it)|^2 dt \right)^{1/2} \lesssim \|a\|_{\theta},$$

$$(27).$$

which proves (27).

Now, thanks to Lemma 19, we can define the interpolation space  $(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)_{\theta}$  as being the completion of the normed space  $(\mathcal{C}_{\theta}(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1), \|\cdot\|_{\theta})$ .

One can easily see that  $(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)_{\theta}$  is an intermediate space:

 $A_0 \cap A_1 \hookrightarrow (A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)_{\theta} \hookrightarrow A_0 + A_1.$ <sup>(29)</sup>

The second embedding in (29), follows directly from the inequality (27). In order to see the first embedding, pick  $a \in A_0 \cap A_1$  and consider the function  $f(z) := \exp(z^2 - \theta^2) a$ . One can easily check that  $f(\theta) = a, f \in \mathcal{F}^2$  and

$$\begin{aligned} \|a\|_{\theta} &\leq \max_{j=0,1} \sup_{\|\Lambda_{j}\| \leq 1} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|\Lambda_{j}f(j+it)\|_{X_{j}}^{2} dt \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq \max_{j=0,1} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|f(j+it)\|_{A_{j}}^{2} dt \right)^{1/2} \sim_{\theta} \|a\|_{A_{0} \cap A_{1}} \end{aligned}$$

This gives us that

$$A_0 \cap A_1 \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C}_{\theta} \left( A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1 \right) \hookrightarrow \left( A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1 \right)_{\theta}.$$

Let us see now that the  $\mathcal{W}$ -method provides an exact interpolation functor:

**Proposition 21.** Consider some Banach spaces  $X_0$ ,  $X_1$ . Let  $(A_0, A_1)$ ,  $(B_0, B_1)$  be two Banach couples and  $T : A_0 + A_1 \rightarrow B_0 + B_1$  be a linear operator such that  $T : A_j \rightarrow B_j$  is bounded for any j = 0, 1, of norm  $||T||_{j \rightarrow j}$ .

Then, the operator

$$T: (A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)_{\theta} \to (B_0, X_0 \mid B_1, X_1)_{\theta},$$

is bounded and of norm  $||T||_{\theta \to \theta}$  satisfying

$$||T||_{\theta \to \theta} \le ||T||_{0 \to 0}^{1-\theta} ||T||_{1 \to 1}^{\theta}$$

**Proof.** Without loss of generality we suppose that  $||T||_{j\to j} > 0$ , for any j = 0, 1. For the brevity of notation we denote by  $||\cdot||_{\theta}$ ,  $||\cdot||_{\mathcal{F}^2}$ ,  $||\cdot||'_{\theta}$  and  $||\cdot||'_{\mathcal{F}^2}$  the norms on the spaces  $(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)_{\theta}$ ,  $\mathcal{F}^2(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$ ,  $(B_0, X_0 \mid B_1, X_1)_{\theta}$  and  $\mathcal{F}^2(B_0, X_0 \mid B_1, X_1)$  respectively. Pick some  $a \in \mathcal{C}_{\theta}(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$  and fix some  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Consider a function  $f \in \mathcal{F}^2(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$  such that  $f(\theta) = a$  and  $||f||_{\mathcal{F}^2} \leq (1 + \varepsilon) ||a||_{\theta}$ . The function

$$F(z) := \|T\|_{0\to 0}^{z-1} \|T\|_{1\to 1}^{-z} Tf(z)$$

belongs to  $\mathcal{F}^2(B_0, X_0 \mid B_1, X_1)$ . Indeed, F is bounded and continuous on S with values in  $B_0 + B_1$ , analytic in  $S_0$  and, for any linear operators  $\Lambda'_j : B_j \to X_j$  of norm at most 1, we have

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left\|\Lambda'_{j}F(j+it)\right\|_{X_{j}}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} \leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left\|\left(\|T\|_{j\to j}^{-1}\Lambda'_{j}\circ T\right)f(j+it)\right\|_{X_{j}}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} \\ \leq \sup_{\|\Lambda_{j}\|\leq 1} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left\|\Lambda_{j}f(j+it)\right\|_{X_{j}}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2},$$
(30)

for any j = 0, 1, where the supremum is taken over all linear bounded operators  $\Lambda_j : A_j \to X_j$ with  $\|\Lambda_j\| \leq 1$ . Here, we have used the fact that  $\|T\|_{j\to j}^{-1} \Lambda'_j \circ T : A_j \to X_j$  is a linear operator of norm at most 1, for any j = 0, 1.

Now, by (30), we get

$$\|T\|_{0\to0}^{\theta-1} \|T\|_{1\to1}^{-\theta} \|Tf(a)\|_{\theta}' = \|F(\theta)\|_{\theta}' \le \|F\|_{\mathcal{F}^2}' \le \|f\|_{\mathcal{F}^2} \le (1+\varepsilon) \|a\|_{\theta},$$

and letting  $\varepsilon \to 0$  one obtains,

$$||Ta||_{\theta}' \le ||T||_{0\to 0}^{1-\theta} ||T||_{1\to 1}^{\theta} ||a||_{\theta},$$

for any  $a \in C_{\theta}(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$ . Since, by definition,  $C_{\theta}(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$  is dense in  $(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)_{\theta}$ , we get the conclusion.

#### 3.2 A particular case

In general, computing the interpolation space  $(A_0, X_0 | A_1, X_1)_{\theta}$  seems to be a nontrivial task. However, there are some particular cases where an explicit computation is easy.

Let us restrict to the case, where  $A_0 = X_0$  and  $A_1 = X_1$  and let us denote, for simplicity, the space  $(X_0, X_0 \mid X_1, X_1)_{\theta}$  by  $(X_0 \mid X_1)_{\theta}$ . Also, instead of  $\mathcal{F}^2(X_0, X_0 \mid X_1, X_1)$  we write  $\mathcal{F}^2(X_0 \mid X_1)$  and instead of  $\mathcal{C}_{\theta}(X_0, X_0 \mid X_1, X_1)$  we write  $\mathcal{C}_{\theta}(X_0 \mid X_1)$ . In this case, formula (21) becomes

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{F}^2} = \max_{j=0,1} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|f(j+it)\|_{X_j}^2 \, dt \right)^{1/2}.$$
(31)

Indeed, for any j = 0, 1, we have

$$\sup_{\|\Lambda_j\| \le 1} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|\Lambda_j f(j+it)\|_{X_j}^2 dt \right)^{1/2} \le \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|f(j+it)\|_{X_j}^2 dt \right)^{1/2}$$

and

$$\sup_{\|\Lambda_{j}\|\leq 1} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|\Lambda_{j}f(j+it)\|_{X_{j}}^{2} dt \right)^{1/2} \geq \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|id_{X_{j}}f(j+it)\|_{X_{j}}^{2} dt \right)^{1/2} \\ = \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|f(j+it)\|_{X_{j}}^{2} dt \right)^{1/2},$$

where  $id_{X_j}: X_j \to X_j$  is the identity mapping on  $X_j$ .

It turns out that, the space  $(X_0|X_1)_{\theta}$  coincides with the space  $(X_0, X_1)_{\theta}$  obtained via the classical complex interpolation method. The proof of this fact is easy, however we give it below for the sake of completeness.

**Proposition 22.** Suppose  $(X_0, X_1)$  is a compatible couple of Banach spaces. Then, for any  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$(X_0|X_1)_{\theta} = (X_0, X_1)_{\theta},$$

with equivalence of norms.

**Remark 23.** Implicitly, the embedding  $(X_0|X_1)_{\theta} \hookrightarrow (X_0, X_1)_{\theta}$  was already proved and used by Peetre in a different context (see [22, Lemme 1.1]). Both proofs, the one that we give below and Peetre's, are easy consequences of the ideas of Calderón from [10, Section 9.4].

**Proof.** Consider some  $a \in (X_0, X_1)_{\theta} \cap C_{\theta}(X_0|X_1)$  and let some  $f \in \mathcal{F}^2(X_0|X_1)$  be such that  $f(\theta) = a$  and

$$||f||_{\mathcal{F}^2} \le 2 ||a||_{(X_0|X_1)_{\theta}}.$$

By [2, Lemma 4.3.2 (ii), p. 93] (or [10, Section 9.4, (ii)]) we have

$$\|a\|_{(X_0,X_1)_{\theta}} \le \left(\frac{1}{1-\theta} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|f(i\tau)\|_{X_0} P_0(\theta,\tau) d\tau\right)^{1-\theta} \left(\frac{1}{\theta} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|f(1+i\tau)\|_{X_1} P_1(\theta,\tau) d\tau\right)^{\theta}, \quad (32)$$

where  $P_j$  (j = 0, 1) are the real Poisson kernels defined by

$$P_j(s+it,\tau) := \frac{e^{-\pi(\tau-t)}\sin\pi s}{\sin^2\pi s + (\cos\pi s - e^{ij\pi - \pi(\tau-t)})^2},$$

for  $s \in (0,1), t, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$ . Note that  $P_j(\theta, \cdot) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$  and by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \|f(i\tau)\|_{X_{0}} P_{0}(\theta,\tau) d\tau \leq \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|f(i\tau)\|_{X_{0}}^{2} d\tau \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} P_{0}^{2}(\theta,\tau) d\tau \right)^{1/2} \\ \lesssim \|f\|_{\mathcal{F}^{2}} \lesssim \|a\|_{(X_{0}|X_{1})_{\theta}}.$$

In a similar way we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left\| f(i\tau) \right\|_{X_0} P_0(\theta,\tau) d\tau \lesssim \left\| a \right\|_{(X_0|X_1)_{\theta}},$$

and combining with (32) one obtains

$$\|a\|_{(X_0,X_1)_{\theta}} \lesssim \|a\|_{(X_0|X_1)_{\theta}}.$$
(33)

By taking the closure we get  $(X_0|X_1)_{\theta} \hookrightarrow (X_0, X_1)_{\theta}$ .

Converselly, if  $a \in (X_0, X_1)_{\theta}$ , then there exists  $g \in \mathcal{F}(X_0, X_1)$  (see [2, Chapter 4] for the standard notation  $\mathcal{F}(X_0, X_1)$ ) such that  $g(\theta) = a$  and

$$\max_{j=0,1} \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \|g(j+it)\|_{X_j} \le 2 \|a\|_{(X_0,X_1)_{\theta}}.$$
(34)

Introduce the function  $\tilde{g}: S \to X_0 + X_1$  defined by  $\tilde{g}(z) := \exp(z^2 - \theta^2)g(z)$ , for  $z \in S$ . We observe that, for any j = 0, 1,

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} \|\widetilde{g}(j+it)\|_{X_{j}}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} \lesssim \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-2t^{2}} \|g(j+it)\|_{X_{j}}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} \\ \leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-2t^{2}} dt\right)^{1/2} \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \|g(j+it)\|_{X_{j}} \\ \sim \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \|g(j+it)\|_{X_{j}}.$$
(35)

Hence,  $\widetilde{g} \in \mathcal{F}^2(X_0|X_1), a = \widetilde{g}(\theta) \in \mathcal{C}_{\theta}(X_0|X_1)$  and by (34), (35),

$$\|a\|_{(X_0|X_1)_{\theta}} \lesssim \|a\|_{(X_0,X_1)_{\theta}}, \tag{36}$$

We have now  $(X_0, X_1)_{\theta} \hookrightarrow (X_0 | X_1)_{\theta}$  and Proposition 22 is proven.

An immediate consequence of Proposition 22 is the following useful embedding result:

**Corollary 24.** Suppose  $(X_0, X_1)$  is a compatible couple of Banach spaces. Then, for any Banach space A, we have the embedding

$$(A \cap X_0, X_0 \mid A \cap X_1, X_1)_{\theta} \hookrightarrow A \cap (X_0, X_1)_{\theta}.$$

**Proof.** Consider the canonical inclusion  $\iota : A \cap X_0 + A \cap X_1 \to X_0 + X_1$  as a linear bounded operator  $\iota : A \cap X_j \to X_j$  and apply Proposition 21. We get

$$(A \cap X_0, X_0 \mid A \cap X_1, X_1)_{\theta} \hookrightarrow (X_0, X_0 \mid X_1, X_1)_{\theta} = (X_0 \mid X_1)_{\theta}.$$

Since by Proposition 22 we have  $(X_0|X_1)_{\theta} = (X_0, X_1)_{\theta}$ , we now obtain the embedding

$$(A \cap X_0, X_0 \mid A \cap X_1, X_1)_{\theta} \hookrightarrow (X_0, X_1)_{\theta}.$$

$$(37)$$

Also, using the fact that  $(A \cap X_0, X_0 \mid A \cap X_1, X_1)_{\theta}$  is an intermediate space (see (29)), we have

$$(A \cap X_0, X_0 \mid A \cap X_1, X_1)_{\theta} \hookrightarrow A \cap X_0 + A \cap X_1 \hookrightarrow A,$$

which together with (37) proves Corollary 24.

#### **3.3** Solutions of linear equations

In this subsection we highlight the main strength of the  $\mathcal{W}$ -method. Namely, we show here how the  $\mathcal{W}$ -method can be used in order to "interpolate" underdetermined equations. Here we make an essential use of the fact that the Hilbert transform is bounded on spaces of the form  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, Z)$ , where Z is an UMD space. The UMD property plays here a key role.

Before stating the results in this subsection let us make some (common) notational conventions. The space  $C_b^l(\mathbb{R}, Z)$ , where  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , is the space of all the functions  $f : \mathbb{R} \to Z$  for which the k-th derivative  $f^{(k)}$  is a continuous and bounded Z-valued function on  $\mathbb{R}$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $k \leq l$ . We endow  $C_b^l(\mathbb{R}, Z)$  with the norm

$$\|f\|_{C_b^l(\mathbb{R},Z)} := \sum_{k=0}^l \|f^{(k)}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R},Z)}.$$

Given a measurable function  $\omega : \mathbb{R} \to (0, \infty)$  we denote by  $L^2(\omega, Z)$  the space of the strongly (Bochner-Lebesgue) measurable functions  $f : \mathbb{R} \to Z$  for which the norm

$$\|f\|_{L^{2}(\omega,Z)} := \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} \|f(t)\|_{Z}^{2} \,\omega(t) dt\right)^{1/2}$$

is finite. When  $\omega(t) = \exp(t^2)$  or  $\omega(t) = \exp(-t^2)$  the space  $L^2(\omega, Z)$  is denoted by  $L^2(\exp(t^2), Z)$  or by  $L^2(\exp(-t^2), Z)$  respectively. However, when  $\omega \equiv 1$  we prefer to write  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, Z)$  instead of  $L^2(1, Z)$ .

#### 3.3.1 Boundary values of functions on the strip

Let us recall now some (at least implicitely) well-known facts related to the Hilbert transforms of vector-valued functions. Let Z be a Banach space and consider a function  $f \in C_b^4(\mathbb{R}, Z) \cap$  $L^2(\exp(t^2), Z)$ . The Hilbert transform of f is defined by

$$Hf(t) := \frac{1}{\pi} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\varepsilon < |t-s| < 1/\varepsilon} \frac{f(s)}{t-s} ds = \frac{1}{\pi} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\varepsilon < |s| < 1/\varepsilon} \frac{f(t-s)}{s} dy,$$

for  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . As one can immediately check, for such f the above limit exists, for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  (the convergence being in the norm of Z). Also, we get that

$$Hf \in C_b(\mathbb{R}, Z). \tag{38}$$

Indeed, for every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \|Hf(t)\|_{Z} &\leq \frac{1}{\pi} \left\| \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\varepsilon < |t-s| < 1} \frac{f(s)}{t-s} ds \right\|_{Z} + \frac{1}{\pi} \left\| \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{1 < |t-s| < 1/\varepsilon} \frac{f(s)}{t-s} ds \right\|_{Z} \\ &= \frac{1}{\pi} \left\| \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\varepsilon < |t-s| < 1} \frac{f(s) - f(t)}{t-s} ds \right\|_{Z} + \frac{1}{\pi} \left\| \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{1 < |t-s| < 1/\varepsilon} \frac{f(s)}{t-s} ds \right\|_{Z} \\ &\leq \frac{2}{\pi} \|f\|_{Lip(\mathbb{R},Z)} + \frac{1}{\pi} \|f\|_{L^{2}(\exp(t^{2}),Z)} \\ &\lesssim \|f\|_{C^{3}_{b}(\mathbb{R},Z)} + \|f\|_{L^{2}(\exp(t^{2}),Z)} \end{split}$$

and hence, Hf(t) is uniformly bounded in Z. The continuity of Hf can be proved in a similar way, by estimating the expression  $Hf(t_1) - Hf(t_2)$ , when  $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{R}$  are close to each other.

In what follows we need a vector-valued version of the Plemelj formula. The proof we give is completely similar to the one in the scalar valued case, however, we include it here for completeness (see for instance [19]).

**Lemma 25.** Suppose Z is a Banach space and consider a function  $f \in C_b^3(\mathbb{R}, Z) \cap L^2(\exp(t^2), Z)$ . Then, when  $\varepsilon \searrow 0$  we have

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{f(s)}{s - (t \pm i\varepsilon)} ds \to \frac{\pm f(t) + iHf(t)}{2}$$

in the norm of Z, uniformly in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

**Proof.** We only consider the case of the sign "+", the other one being similar. We first show that

$$\left\|\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{\mathbb{R}}\frac{f(s)}{s-i\varepsilon}dy - \frac{f(0)}{2} - \frac{i}{2\pi}\int_{|s|>\varepsilon}\frac{f(s)}{-s}ds\right\|_{Z} \lesssim \|f\|_{C_{b}^{1}(\mathbb{R},Z)}\varepsilon^{1/2},\tag{39}$$

for any  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ , where the implicit constant does not depend on f or  $\varepsilon$ . Changing the variables  $(s = \varepsilon \tau)$ , this is equivalent to

$$\left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(\varepsilon\tau) \left( \frac{1}{\tau - i} - \mathbf{1}_{|\tau| > 1}(\tau) \frac{1}{\tau} \right) d\tau - \pi i f(0) \right\|_{Z} \lesssim \|f\|_{C_{b}^{1}(\mathbb{R}, Z)} \varepsilon^{1/2}.$$

$$\tag{40}$$

Notice that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \frac{1}{\tau - i} - \mathbf{1}_{|\tau| > 1} \left( \tau \right) \frac{1}{\tau} \right| d\tau < \infty \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( \frac{1}{\tau - i} - \mathbf{1}_{|\tau| > 1} \left( \tau \right) \frac{1}{\tau} \right) d\tau = \pi i,$$

and hence, it remains to show that

$$\left\|\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(f(\varepsilon\tau) - f(0)\right) \left(\frac{1}{\tau - i} - \mathbf{1}_{|\tau| > 1}\left(\tau\right) \frac{1}{\tau}\right) d\tau\right\|_{Z} \lesssim \|f\|_{C_{b}^{1}(\mathbb{R}, Z)} \varepsilon^{1/2}.$$

One can see this by a direct computation. Indeed, the quantity

$$\left\|\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(f(\varepsilon\tau) - f(0)\right) \left(\frac{1}{\tau - i} - \mathbf{1}_{|\tau| > 1}\left(\tau\right) \frac{1}{\tau}\right) d\tau\right\|_{Z}$$

is bounded by

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|f(\varepsilon\tau) - f(0)\|_{Z} \left| \frac{1}{\tau - i} - \mathbf{1}_{|\tau| > 1}\left(\tau\right) \frac{1}{\tau} \right| d\tau &\lesssim \int_{[-R,R]} \|f(\varepsilon\tau) - f(0)\|_{Z} \frac{1}{1 + |\tau|} d\tau \\ &+ \int_{[-R,R]^{c}} \|f(\varepsilon\tau) - f(0)\|_{Z} \frac{1}{\tau^{2}} d\tau, \end{split}$$
(41)

for any R > 1. Since,

$$\|f(\varepsilon\tau) - f(0)\|_{Z} \le \varepsilon \|f\|_{C_{b}^{1}(\mathbb{R},Z)} |\tau|,$$

we get

$$\int_{[-R,R]} \|f(\varepsilon\tau) - f(0)\|_Z \frac{1}{1+|\tau|} d\tau \lesssim \|f\|_{C_b^1(\mathbb{R},Z)} \varepsilon R$$

Also, since

$$||f(\varepsilon\tau) - f(0)||_Z \le 2 ||f||_{C_b^1(\mathbb{R},Z)},$$

we have

$$\int_{[-R,R]^c} \left\| f(\varepsilon\tau) - f(0) \right\|_Z \frac{1}{\tau^2} d\tau \lesssim \left\| f \right\|_{C^1_b(\mathbb{R},Z)} / R.$$

From (41) we get now,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left\| f(\varepsilon\tau) - f(0) \right\|_{Z} \left| \frac{1}{\tau - i} - \mathbf{1}_{|\tau| > 1} \left( \tau \right) \frac{1}{\tau} \right| d\tau \lesssim \| f \|_{C_{b}^{1}(\mathbb{R}, Z)} \left( \varepsilon R + 1/R \right),$$

where the implicit constant does not depend on  $\varepsilon$  or R. Setting  $R = \varepsilon^{-1/2}$  we obtain (40) and hence (39).

Now consider some function  $f \in C_b^1(\mathbb{R}, Z)$  and for each  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , define  $f_t : \mathbb{R} \to Z$  by  $f_t(x) := f(x+t)$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . We can see that  $f_t \in C_b^1(\mathbb{R}, Z)$  and

$$||f_t||_{C_b^1(\mathbb{R},Z)} = ||f||_{C_b^1(\mathbb{R},Z)},$$

for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . By a simple change of variables we can also observe that

$$\left\|\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{\mathbb{R}}\frac{f_t(s)}{s-i\varepsilon}ds - \frac{f_t(0)}{2} - \frac{i}{2\pi}\int_{|s|>\varepsilon}\frac{f_t(s)}{-s}ds\right\|_Z$$

equals

$$\left\|\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{\mathbb{R}}\frac{f(s)}{s-(t+i\varepsilon)}ds-\frac{f(t)}{2}-\frac{i}{2\pi}\int_{|t-s|>\varepsilon}\frac{f(s)}{t-s}ds\right\|_{Z}$$

Hence, by applying (39) to  $f_t$  and letting  $\varepsilon \to 0$  we obtain the conclusion.

Let us introduce the some operators that quantify the boundary behaviour of analytic functions on the strip. For each j = 0, 1 let

$$\mathcal{H}_{j}: L^{2}\left(\exp\left(t^{2}\right), Z\right) \cap C_{b}^{3}\left(\mathbb{R}, Z\right) \to C_{b}\left(\mathbb{R}, Z\right),$$

be defined by

$$\mathcal{H}_j f(t) := \frac{-if(t) - (-1)^j H f(t)}{2},$$

and  $\mathcal{R}_{j}: L^{2}(\exp(t^{2}), Z) \cap C^{3}_{b}(\mathbb{R}, Z) \to C_{b}(\mathbb{R}, Z)$ , be defined by

$$\mathcal{R}_j f(t) := \rho_j * f(t),$$

where  $\rho_j : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  are the bounded functions

$$\rho_j(t) := \frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{1 - (-1)^j it}$$

for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . It is easy to see that, for  $f \in L^2(\exp(t^2), Z)$ , the quantity  $\mathcal{R}_j f$  is indeed well-defined and  $\mathcal{R}_j f \in C_b(\mathbb{R}, Z)$ .

An easy consequence of (38) and Lemma 25 is the following fact:

**Lemma 26.** Suppose  $(B_0, B_1)$  is a compatible couple of Banach spaces. Consider some functions  $u_j \in C_b^3(\mathbb{R}, B_j) \cap L^2(\exp(t^2), B_j), j = 0, 1$ , and define  $u: S \to B_0 + B_1$  by

$$u(z) := -\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{u_0(t)}{it - z} dt + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{u_1(t)}{1 + it - z} dt,$$

for all  $z \in S_0$ , and

$$u(j+it) := \mathcal{H}_j u_j(t) + \mathcal{R}_j u_{1-j}(t),$$

for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then,  $u \in C_b(S, B_0 + B_1)$ .

**Proof.** Clearly, by (38) (for  $Z = B_0 + B_1$ ) we have  $\mathcal{H}_j u_j \in C_b(\mathbb{R}, B_0 + B_1)$ . Also, by Lemma 25 (for  $Z = B_0 + B_1$ ) we have

$$\frac{(-1)^{j+1}}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{u_j(t)}{j+it-(j+i\tau+(-1)^j\varepsilon)} dt \to \mathcal{H}_j u_j(\tau),$$

in  $B_0 + B_1$  uniformly in  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ , when  $\varepsilon \searrow 0$ . On the other hand, we have  $\mathcal{R}_j u_{1-j} \in C_b(\mathbb{R}, B_0 + B_1)$ and, as one can easily see,

$$\frac{(-1)^{j+1}}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{u_{1-j}\left(t\right)}{j+it-\left(1-j+i\tau+(-1)^{j}\varepsilon\right)} dt \to \mathcal{R}_{j}u_{1-j}(\tau),$$

in  $B_0 + B_1$  uniformly in  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ , when  $\varepsilon \searrow 0$ .

Hence, u is approaching its boundary values uniformly. Since u is analytic on  $S_0$  we obtain the conclusion.

#### **3.3.2** Interpolation of equations

Let us illustrate by some examples the fact that, in general, the surjectivity of operators is not preserved by interpolation:

Example 1. Consider the operator  $T_s : L^2(\mathbb{T}) \times L^2(\mathbb{T}) \to L^2(\mathbb{T})$ , defined by the formula  $T_s(f,g) := f + g$ , for any  $(f,g) \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$ . One can easily see that  $T_s : L^2(\mathbb{T}) \times L^4(\mathbb{T}) \to L^2(\mathbb{T})$  and  $T_s : L^4(\mathbb{T}) \times L^2(\mathbb{T}) \to L^2(\mathbb{T})$  are surjective operators however, the operator

$$T_s: (L^2(\mathbb{T}) \times L^4(\mathbb{T}), L^4(\mathbb{T}) \times L^2(\mathbb{T}))_{1/2} \to (L^2(\mathbb{T}), L^2(\mathbb{T}))_{1/2},$$

$$(42)$$

is not surjective. Indeed, if  $T_s$  in (42) is surjective, then

$$T_s: L^3(\mathbb{T}) \times L^3(\mathbb{T}) \to L^2(\mathbb{T})$$

is surjective, and we get the false embedding  $L^2(\mathbb{T}) \hookrightarrow L^3(\mathbb{T})$ .

Example 2. Let us consider now another example which is more closely related to the equations we treat in this paper. For any  $p \ge 1$  let  $W^{-1,p}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)$  be the spaces of those distributions f that are divergences of  $L^p$ -vector fields on  $\mathbb{T}^2$  and with  $\widehat{f}(0) = 0$  (in general, if Z is a function space on  $\mathbb{T}^2$ , we denote by  $Z_{\sharp}$  the space of those  $f \in Z$  with  $\widehat{f}(0) = 0$ ). The norm on  $W^{-1,p}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)$  is given by

$$\|f\|_{W^{-1,p}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)} = \inf \left\{ \|f_1\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^2)} + \|f_2\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^2)} \mid f = \partial_1 f_1 + \partial_2 f_2 \right\}.$$

We have that div :  $L^1(\mathbb{T}^2) \to W^{-1,1}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)$  and div :  $L^3(\mathbb{T}^2) \to W^{-1,3}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)$  are surjective operators. However, the operator

div: 
$$L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2}) \to (W^{-1,1}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^{2}), W^{-1,3}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^{2}))_{1/2},$$
 (43)

cannot be surjective. Indeed, since

$$\operatorname{div}: L^2(\mathbb{T}^2) \to W^{-1,2}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2),$$

the surjectivity of the operator in (43) would imply that

$$(W^{-1,1}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2), W^{-1,3}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2))_{1/2} \hookrightarrow W^{-1,2}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2),$$

which, by duality is equivalent to

$$W^{1,2}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2) \hookrightarrow (W^{1,\infty}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2), W^{1,3/2}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2))_{1/2}.$$
 (44)

Note that (44) is false (see cite [11, Section 4]).

In what follows we will work in a slightly different setting. Given two pairs of Banach spaces  $A_j \hookrightarrow B_j$ , j = 0, 1 and an operator T defined on  $B_0 + B_1$  such that  $T : A_j \to T((B_j)$  is surjective, we study the surjectivity of  $T : (A_0, A_1)_{\theta} \to T((B_0, B_1)_{\theta})$ . Lemma 28 below gives some sufficient additional conditions under which surjectivity is preserved by the complex interpolation. To state and prove Lemma 28 we need the technical Lemma 27.

We introduce first some notation needed in the statement of Lemma 27. Let  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}([-1,1],\mathbb{R})$ be a function of integral 1 and  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Define the function  $\varphi_{\varepsilon}$  by  $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(t) := \varepsilon^{-1}\varphi(\varepsilon^{-1}t)$ , for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . For any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , and any (other) function  $g : \mathbb{R} \to Z$  taking values in some Banach space Z, we define the function  $g_{\varepsilon} := g * \varphi_{\varepsilon}$ . With this notation we state the following: **Lemma 27.** Let  $A, X_0, X_1, B_0, B_1, E, F$  be Banach spaces such that  $A, B_0, B_1 \hookrightarrow E$  and consider a bounded linear operator  $T : E \to F$ . Denote  $A_0 := A \cap X_0$  and  $A_1 := A \cap X_1$ . Suppose moreover that the following conditions are satisfied:

(i)  $B_1 \hookrightarrow X_1 \hookrightarrow X_0$  and  $B_0 \hookrightarrow A_0$ ;

(ii) A and  $X_1$  have a separable preduals;

(iii)  $T: A_j \to F$  and  $T: B_j \to F$  are bounded for each j = 0, 1 and  $T(B_1) \hookrightarrow T(A_1)$ .

Then, for each j = 0, 1 we have the following:

For any  $v_j \in L^2(\exp(t^2), B_j)$  and any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a function  $u_j^{\varepsilon} \in L^2(\exp(t^2), A_j) \cap C_b^3(\mathbb{R}, A_j)$ , such that

$$Tu_{j}^{\varepsilon}(t) = Tv_{j,\varepsilon}(t), \tag{45}$$

for any in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , and satisfying the estimates:

$$\left\| u_j^{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^2(A_j)} \lesssim \left\| v_j \right\|_{L^2(B_j)},\tag{46}$$

and

$$\left\| \mathcal{R}_{1-j} u_{j}^{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),A_{1-j})} \lesssim \left\| v_{j} \right\|_{L^{2}(\exp(t^{2}),B_{j})} + \delta_{j0} \left\| \mathcal{R}_{1-j} v_{j} \right\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),B_{1-j})}.$$
(47)

where all the implicit constants do not depend on  $v_i$  and  $\varepsilon$ .

(Here,  $v_{j,\varepsilon}(t) = v_j * \varphi_{\varepsilon}(t)$  and  $\delta_{j0}$  is the Kronecker symbol, i.e., we have  $\delta_{j0} = 1$  if j = 0 and  $\delta_{j0} = 0$  if  $j \neq 0$ .)

Roughly speaking the conditions (45)–(47) are describing the fact that the equation Tu = Tv can be solved efficiently on the boundary of the strip S. The role of Lemma 27 is to transform the easy to state conditions (i)–(iii) into the more technical conditions (45)–(47).

In order to prove Lemma 27 we need some simple facts that are easy consequences of classical inequalities.

**Fact 1.** Suppose Z is a Banach space and consider some function  $g \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}, Z)$ . Then, we have:

(i)  $\|g_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),Z)} \lesssim \|g\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),Z)}$ , uniformly in  $\varepsilon > 0$ ; (ii)  $\|g_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(t^{2}),Z)} \lesssim \|g\|_{L^{2}(\exp(t^{2}),Z)}$ , uniformly in  $\varepsilon > 0$ .

**Proof of Fact 1.** We prove only item (i), item (ii) being similar. By Minkowski's inequality we have

$$\begin{split} \|g_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),Z)} &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t^{2}} \left\|\int_{B(0,1)} g(t-\varepsilon s)\varphi(s)ds\right\|_{Z} dt\right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq \int_{B_{\mathbb{R}}(0,1)} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t^{2}} \|g(t-\varepsilon s)\|_{Z}^{2} \varphi(s)dt\right)^{1/2} ds \\ &= \int_{B_{\mathbb{R}}(0,1)} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-(t+\varepsilon s)^{2}} \|g(t)\|_{Z}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} \varphi(s)ds \\ &\lesssim \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-(t+\varepsilon s)^{2}} \|g(t)\|_{Z}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} \\ &\lesssim \|g_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),Z)}, \end{split}$$

where we have used the fact that  $e^{-(t+\varepsilon s)^2} \sim e^{-t^2}$ , when  $s \in B_{\mathbb{R}}(0,1)$ .

**Fact 2.** Suppose Z is a Banach space and consider some function  $g \in L^2(\exp(-t^2), Z)$ . Then, we have  $\|\mathcal{R}_j g\|_{L^2(\exp(-t^2), Z)} \lesssim \|g\|_{L^2(\exp(t^2), Z)}$ , for any j = 0, 1.

**Proof of Fact 2.** Fix  $j \in \{0,1\}$ . Note first that if  $g \in L^2(\exp(-t^2), Z)$ , then  $g \in L^1(\mathbb{R}, Z)$ . Using the boundedness of the function  $\rho_j$  on  $\mathbb{R}$ , one writes

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{R}_{j}g\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),Z)} &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t^{2}} \left\|\int_{\mathbb{R}} \rho_{j}(t-s)g(s)ds\right\|_{Z}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} \\ &\lesssim \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t^{2}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} \|g(s)\|_{Z} ds\right)^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} \\ &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}} \|g(s)\|_{Z} ds. \end{aligned}$$

By the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \|g(s)\|_Z \, ds \le \|g\|_{L^2(\exp(t^2), Z)} \,,$$

and Fact 2 is proved.

Let us introduce some more notation. Let Z be a Banach space and fix some  $N \in \mathbb{N}^*$ . For any function  $g \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}, Z)$  we denote by  $\mathbb{E}_N g$  the conditional expectation of g with the respect to the  $\sigma$ -algebra generated by the intervals  $I_N^k := [k/N, (k+1)/N)$ , were  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . In other words, if  $(g)_I$  is the mean of g on one of these intervals I, i.e.,

$$(g)_I := \frac{1}{|I|} \int_I g(t) dt,$$

we define the corresponding conditional expectation of g by

$$\mathbb{E}_N g := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left( g \right)_{I_N^k} \mathbf{1}_{I_N^k}.$$

See [12, Chapter 5] for some fundamental properties of the conditional expectation operator  $\mathbb{E}_N$ .

Now we can pass to the proof of Lemma 27.

**Proof of Lemma 27.** For each j = 0, 1 consider some functions  $v_j \in L^2(\exp(t^2), B_j)$ . In the case where j = 0 one can simply set  $u_0^{\varepsilon} := v_{0,\varepsilon}$ . Clearly,  $u_0^{\varepsilon} \in L^2(\exp(t^2), A_0) \cap C_b^3(\mathbb{R}, A_0)$ . It is also clear that the conditions (45), (46) are satisfied thanks to the fact that  $B_0 \to A_0$ . Let us verify (47). We have

$$\|\mathcal{R}_{1}u_{0}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),A_{1})} \sim \|\mathcal{R}_{1}v_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),A)} + \|\mathcal{R}_{1}v_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),X_{1})},$$
(48)

and it remains to bound each term in the right hand side of (48). Since  $B_0 \hookrightarrow A \cap X_0$ , we have in particular that  $B_0 \hookrightarrow A$  and hence,

$$\|\mathcal{R}_{1}v_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),A)} \lesssim \|\mathcal{R}_{1}v_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),B_{0})} \lesssim \|v_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(t^{2}),B_{0})} \lesssim \|v_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(t^{2}),B_{0})}, \quad (49)$$

where for the second " $\leq$ " we have used Fact 2 and for the third " $\leq$ " we have used Fact 1 (ii). Since  $B_1 \hookrightarrow X_1$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{R}_{1}v_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),X_{1})} &\lesssim \|\mathcal{R}_{1}v_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),B_{1})} = \|(\mathcal{R}_{1}v_{0})_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),B_{1})} \\ &\lesssim \|\mathcal{R}_{1}v_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),B_{1})}, \end{aligned}$$
(50)

where for "=" we have used the relation  $\rho * \varphi_{\varepsilon} = \varphi_{\varepsilon} * \rho$  and for the last " $\leq$ " we have used Fact 1 (i). From (48), (49) and (50) we obtain (47) in the case j = 0.

Now, we deal with the case j = 1. By using the open mapping theorem one gets that, if  $b \in B_1$ , then there exists  $a \in A_1$  such that Ta = Tb and  $||a||_{A_1} \leq C ||b||_{B_1}$  for some constant C > 0. As a consequence, for each  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  we can find some elements  $a_N^k \in A_1$  with

$$Ta_N^k = T\left(v_1\right)_{I_N^k}$$

and such that

$$\left\|a_{N}^{k}\right\|_{A_{1}} \leq C \left\|(v_{1})_{I_{N}^{k}}\right\|_{B_{1}}$$

Hence, defining  $u_N : \mathbb{R} \to A_1$  by

$$u_{1,N} := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} a_N^k \mathbf{1}_{I_N^k},$$

we have

$$Tu_{1,N}(t) = T\mathbb{E}_N v_1(t), \tag{51}$$

for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , and

$$\|u_{1,N}(t)\|_{A_1} \lesssim \|\mathbb{E}_N v_1(t)\|_{B_1},$$
(52)

uniformly in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Define now the function  $u_{1,N}^{\varepsilon} := u_{1,N} * \varphi_{\varepsilon} = (u_{1,N})_{\varepsilon}$ , the convolution being in the t variable. Thanks to (51) we have

$$Tu_{1,N}^{\varepsilon}(t) = T(\mathbb{E}_N v_{1,})_{\varepsilon}(t), \tag{53}$$

for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Let us observe that, when  $N \to \infty$ ,

$$\|(\mathbb{E}_N v_1)_{\varepsilon}(t) - v_{1,\varepsilon}(t)\|_{B_1} \to 0,$$
(54)

uniformly in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Indeed, by Jensen's inequality and [12, Corollary 2, p. 126] we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\mathbb{E}_N v_1)_{\varepsilon}(t) - v_{1,\varepsilon}(t)\|_{B_1} &\leq \int_{B_{\mathbb{R}}(t,1/\varepsilon)} \|(\mathbb{E}_N v_1)_{\varepsilon}(s) - v_{1,\varepsilon}(s)\|_{B_1} \varphi_{\varepsilon}(t-s) ds \\ &\leq \left(\int_{B_{\mathbb{R}}(t,1/\varepsilon)} \|(\mathbb{E}_N v_1)_{\varepsilon}(s) - v_{1,\varepsilon}(s)\|_{B_1}^2 \varphi_{\varepsilon}(t-s) ds\right)^{1/2} \\ &\lesssim \varepsilon \|\mathbb{E}_N v_1 - v_1\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R},B_1)} \to 0. \end{aligned}$$

Also one easily observe that the sequence of functions  $(u_{1,N}^{\varepsilon})_{N\geq 1}$  is equi-continuous and uniformly bounded. Indeed, using the Cauchy-Schwaz inequality,

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| u_{1,N}^{\varepsilon}(t_{1}) - u_{1,N}^{\varepsilon}(t_{2}) \right\|_{A_{1}} &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left\| u_{1,N}(s) \right\|_{A_{1}} \left| \varphi_{\varepsilon}(t_{1}-s) - \varphi_{\varepsilon}(t_{2}-s) \right| ds \\ &\leq \left\| u_{1,N} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},A_{1})} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \varphi_{\varepsilon}(t_{1}-s) - \varphi_{\varepsilon}(t_{2}-s) \right|^{2} ds \right)^{2}, \end{aligned}$$
(55)

for any  $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{R}$  and it remains to notice that, by (52), we have

$$||u_{1,N}||_{L^2(\mathbb{R},A_1)} \le ||\mathbb{E}_N v_1||_{L^2(\mathbb{R},B_1)} \le ||v_1||_{L^2(\mathbb{R},B_1)} < \infty.$$

Since  $(u_{1,N}^{\varepsilon})_{N\geq 1}$  is equi-continuous and uniformly bounded sequence, and A,  $X_1$  have a separable preduals, there exists some  $u_1^{\varepsilon} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, A_1)$  such that  $u_{1,N}^{\varepsilon}(t) \to u_1^{\varepsilon}(t)$  in the  $w^*$ -topology on A and in the  $w^*$ -topology on  $X_1$ , up to a subsequence, for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . By an argument similar to the one used in (55), it is easy to see that one can choose  $u_1^{\varepsilon} \in C_b^3(\mathbb{R}, A_1)$ . Thanks to (53) and (54) one can write

$$Tu_1^{\varepsilon}(t) = Tv_{1,\varepsilon}(t),$$

for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , which proves (45). In order to verify (46) one uses the Young inequality and (52):

$$\|u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},A_{1})} \leq \liminf_{N \to \infty} \|u_{1,N}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},A_{1})} \leq \liminf_{N \to \infty} \|u_{1,N}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},A_{1})} \\ \lesssim \liminf_{N \to \infty} \|\mathbb{E}_{N}v_{1}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},B_{1})} \lesssim \|v_{1}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},B_{1})}.$$
(56)

Observe now that, as in (56), we get

$$\|u_1^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2(\exp(t^2),A_1)} \lesssim \|v_{1,\varepsilon}\|_{L^2(\exp(t^2),B_1)} \lesssim \|v_1\|_{L^2(\exp(t^2),B_1)},$$
(57)

where for the second " $\leq$ " we have used Fact 1 (ii). In particular, we have that  $u_1^{\varepsilon} \in L^2(\exp(t^2), A_1) \cap C_b^3(\mathbb{R}, A_1)$ .

Let us verify now that  $u_1^{\varepsilon}$  also satisfies (47). We can write

$$\|\mathcal{R}_{0}u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),A_{0})} \lesssim \|u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(t^{2}),A_{0})} \lesssim \|u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(t^{2}),A_{1})},$$
(58)

where for the first " $\leq$ " we have used Fact 2 and for the second " $\leq$ " we have used the embedding  $X_1 \hookrightarrow X_0$  (that implies  $A_1 \hookrightarrow A_0$ ). Combining (57) with (58) we get

$$\|\mathcal{R}_0 u_1^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2(\exp(-t^2),A_0)} \lesssim \|v_1\|_{L^2(\exp(t^2),B_1)},$$

and (47) is proved in the case j = 1. Lemma 27 is proved.

We are now able to state and prove the main result of subsection 3.3:

**Lemma 28.** Fix some number  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ . Let the Banch spaces  $A, X_0, X_1, A_0, A_1, B_0, B_1, E$ , F and the operator T be as in Lemma 27. Moreover, we assume that  $X_0, X_1$  and  $B_1$  are UMD spaces and that  $(X_0, X_1)_{\theta}$  has a separable predual. Then, for any  $b \in (B_0, B_1)_{\theta}$  there exists some  $a \in A \cap (X_0, X_1)_{\theta}$  such that

$$Ta = Tb$$

and

$$\|a\|_{A\cap(X_0,X_1)_{\theta}} \lesssim \|b\|_{(B_0,B_1)_{\theta}} \,. \tag{59}$$

**Proof.** Fix some  $b \in C_{\theta}(B_0|B_1)$ . Consider  $v \in \mathcal{F}^2(B_0|B_1)$  such that  $v(\theta) = b$  and

$$\|v\|_{\mathcal{F}^{2}(B_{0}|B_{1})} \leq 2 \|b\|_{(B_{0}|B_{1})_{\theta}}.$$
(60)

Since we can replace (if necessary) v by  $\exp(z^2 - \theta^2)v$ , we can assume without loss of generality that  $v_j \in L^2(\exp(t^2), B_j)$ , where  $v_j(t) := v(j + it)$ , for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Define, for each  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ , the function  $v_{\varepsilon}$  on S by  $v_{\varepsilon} := v * \varphi_{\varepsilon}$ , as in the statement of Lemma 27.

Note that, thanks to Lemma 26,

$$v_{j,\varepsilon}(t) := \mathcal{H}_j v_{j,\varepsilon}(t) + \mathcal{R}_j v_{1-j,\varepsilon}(t),$$

for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . From this identity, since  $B_1$  is an UMD space, we can write

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{R}_{1}v_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},B_{1})} &\leq \|v_{1,\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},B_{1})} + \|\mathcal{H}v_{1,\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},B_{1})} \\ &\lesssim \|v_{1,\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},B_{1})} \lesssim \|v_{1}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},B_{1})} \\ &\lesssim \|b\|_{(B_{0}|B_{1})_{\theta}}, \end{aligned}$$

where for the second " $\leq$ " we have used Young's inequality and for the last " $\leq$ " we have used (60). In particular, we get

$$\|\mathcal{R}_{1}v_{0,\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),B_{1})} \lesssim \|b\|_{(B_{0}|B_{1})_{\theta}}.$$
(61)

By Lemma 27 there exist some functions  $u_j^{\varepsilon} \in L^2(\exp(t^2), A_j) \cap C_b^2(\mathbb{R}, A_j)$  satisfying (45), (46), (47). Define  $\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} : S \to A_0 + A_1$  by

$$\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(z) := -\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{u_0^{\varepsilon}(t)}{it - z} dt + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{u_1^{\varepsilon}(t)}{1 + it - z} dt,$$
(62)

for all  $z \in S_0$ , and

$$\tilde{u}_{j}^{\varepsilon}(t) = \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}\left(j+it\right) := \mathcal{H}_{j}u_{j}^{\varepsilon}(t) + \mathcal{R}_{j}u_{1-j}^{\varepsilon}(t), \tag{63}$$

for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Notice that, since  $u_j^{\varepsilon} \in L^2(\exp(t^2), A_j) \cap C_b^3(\mathbb{R}, A_j)$ , thanks to Lemma 26,  $\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}$  is well-defined and  $\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} \in C_b(S, A_0 + A_1)$ . Let us verify that  $\exp(z^2 - \theta^2)\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{F}^2(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)$ . We show that, for any j = 0, 1, we have the estimate:

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t^2} \left\|\Lambda_j \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} \left(j+it\right)\right\|_{X_j}^2 dt\right)^{1/2} \lesssim \left\|b\right\|_{\left(B_0|B_1\right)_{\theta}},\tag{64}$$

for any bounded linear operator  $\Lambda_j : A_j \to X_j$  with  $\|\Lambda_j\| \leq 1$ , the implicit constant not depending on  $\Lambda_j$ .

Using (63) we write:

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t^{2}} \left\|\Lambda_{j} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(j+it)\right\|_{X_{j}}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} \leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t^{2}} \left\|\mathcal{H}_{j} \Lambda_{j} u_{j}^{\varepsilon}(t)\right\|_{X_{j}}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} + \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t^{2}} \left\|\Lambda_{j} \mathcal{R}_{j} u_{1-j}^{\varepsilon}(t)\right\|_{X_{j}}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2}.$$
(65)

Since the spaces  $X_j$  have the UMD property, we get

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t^{2}} \left\| \mathcal{H}_{j} \Lambda_{j} u_{j}^{\varepsilon}(t) \right\|_{X_{j}}^{2} dt \right)^{1/2} \leq \left\| \mathcal{H}_{j} \Lambda_{j} u_{j}^{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}, X_{j})} \lesssim \left\| \Lambda_{j} u_{j}^{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}, X_{j})} \\ \leq \left\| u_{j}^{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}, A_{j})} \leq \left\| v_{j} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}, B_{j})} \\ \lesssim \left\| b \right\|_{(B_{0}|B_{1})_{\theta}}, \tag{66}$$

where for the third " $\leq$ " we have used (46) and for the last " $\lesssim$ " we have used (60). It remains to estimate the second term in the right of (65):

$$\left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-t^{2}} \left\| \Lambda_{j} \mathcal{R}_{j} u_{1-j}^{\varepsilon}(t) \right\|_{X_{j}}^{2} dt \right)^{1/2} \leq \left\| \mathcal{R}_{j} u_{1-j}^{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2})A_{j})} \\
\lesssim \left\| v_{1-j} \right\|_{L^{2}(\exp(t^{2}),B_{1-j})} + \delta_{j1} \left\| \mathcal{R}_{j} v_{1-j} \right\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),B_{j})} \\
\lesssim \left\| v_{1-j} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},B_{1-j})} + \delta_{j1} \left\| \mathcal{R}_{j} v_{1-j} \right\|_{L^{2}(\exp(-t^{2}),B_{j})} \\
\lesssim \left\| b \right\|_{(B_{0}|B_{1})_{\theta}},$$
(67)

where for the first " $\leq$ " we have used (47) and for the last " $\leq$ " we have used (60) and (61). By (65), (66), (67) we have proved (64). Hence, we have obtained

$$\left\| \exp(z^2 - \theta^2) \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} \right\|_{\mathcal{F}^2(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)} \lesssim \|b\|_{(B_0 \mid B_1)_{\theta}}.$$

This implies that for  $a^{\varepsilon} := \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(\theta)$  we have

$$\|a^{\varepsilon}\|_{(A_0,X_0 \mid A_1,X_1)_{\theta}} \lesssim \|b\|_{(B_0|B_1)_{\theta}}.$$
(68)

Note that, by Proposition 22,  $(B_0|B_1)_{\theta} = (B_0, B_1)_{\theta}$ , and by Corollary 24,  $(A_0, X_0 \mid A_1, X_1)_{\theta} \hookrightarrow A \cap (X_0, X_1)_{\theta}$ . From this and (68) we get

$$\|a^{\varepsilon}\|_{A\cap(X_0,X_1)_{\theta}} \lesssim \|b\|_{(B_0,B_1)_{\theta}}.$$
 (69)

We observe that for  $b_{\varepsilon} := v_{\varepsilon}(\theta)$  we have

$$Ta^{\varepsilon} = Tb_{\varepsilon}.\tag{70}$$

Indeed, by applying Lemma 20, (62), the continuity of  $T: E \to F$  and (45), one gets

$$T\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(\theta) - Lv_{\varepsilon}(\theta) = -\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{Tu_{0}^{\varepsilon}(t) - Tv_{0,\varepsilon}(t)}{it - \theta} dt + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{Tu_{1}^{\varepsilon}(t) - Tv_{1,\varepsilon}(t)}{1 + it - \theta} dt = 0.$$

We let  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Since  $v_{j,\varepsilon} \to v_j$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, B_j)$ , for each j = 0, 1 we get that  $b_{\varepsilon} \to b$  in  $(B_0|B_1)_{\theta} = (B_0, B_1)_{\theta}$ . Also, thanks to (69), since A and  $(X_0, X_1)_{\theta}$  have separable preduals, by the sequential Banach-Aloglu theorem, there exists some  $a \in A \cap (X_0, X_1)_{\theta}$  such that  $a^{1/n} \to a$   $(n \in \mathbb{N}^*)$  in the  $w^*$ -topology on A and in the  $w^*$ -topology on  $(X_0, X_1)_{\theta}$ , up to a subsequence. Also, by (69) we get

 $||a||_{A\cap(X_0,X_1)_{\theta}} \lesssim ||b||_{(B_0,B_1)_{\theta}}.$ 

It follows that  $Tb_{1/n} \to Tb$  and  $Ta^{1/n} \to Ta$  in the  $w^*$ -topology of F, up to a subsequence. Consequently, by (70) we have

$$Ta = Tb.$$

Since  $C_{\theta}(B_0|B_1)$  is dense in  $(B_0|B_1)_{\theta} = (B_0, B_1)_{\theta}$  we can use the above compactness argument in order to obtain a solution for any  $b \in (B_0|B_1)_{\theta}$ . Lemma 28 is proved.

**Remark 29.** One can easily adapt Lemma 27 and Lemma 28 to the more general case of the equations Tu = Lv, where  $T, L : E \to F$  are possibly different operators. For this we have to change the conditions (i) and (iii) in Lemma 27 by

(i')  $B_1 \hookrightarrow X_1 \hookrightarrow X_0$  and there exists an operator  $L_T : E \to F$  such that  $L_T : B_j \to A_j$  is bounded for each j = 0, 1 and  $T \circ L_T = L$  on  $B_0$ ;

(*iii*)  $T: A_j \to F$  and  $L: B_j \to F$  are bounded for each j = 0, 1 and  $L(B_1) \hookrightarrow T(A_1)$ .

The modifications needed for the corresponding proofs are minor. However, for the sake of simplicity, we preferred to present the proofs only in the case T = L.

## 4 Spectral analysis

In this section we study the solutions of divergence-like equations via  $L^2$ -based Fourier analysis methods. This is done by a slight modification of the ideas of Bourgain and Brézis used in the proof of [5, Lemma 2]. While in this case the techniques we use are essentially those of Bourgain and Brézis, we give more general existence results that take into account the shape of the Fourier spectrum of solutions. The final results of this section will represent the "1-endpoint" when we apply the W-method (see Lemma 35 and Lemma 36 below).

#### 4.1 Symbols with bounded Fourier transform

Let  $1 \leq \ell \leq d$  be some integers and let  $m : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$  be a function. We say that m is an  $\ell$ -BB symbol<sup>5</sup> if the following conditions are satisfied:

(i) there exists a constant C > 0 such that, in the case  $\ell < d$ ,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-\ell}} \left| \partial_1^{\alpha_1} \dots \partial_\ell^{\alpha_l} m(\xi', \xi'') \right| d\xi'' \le \frac{C}{\left| \xi' \right|^{\ell+|\alpha|}},\tag{71}$$

for all  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_\ell) \in \{0, 1\}^\ell$  and all  $\xi' \in (0, \infty)^\ell$ , and, in the case  $\ell = d$ ,

$$\left|\partial_1^{\alpha_1}...\partial_d^{\alpha_d}m(\xi)\right| \le \frac{C}{\left|\xi\right|^{\ell+|\alpha|}},\tag{72}$$

for all  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_d) \in \{0, 1\}^d$  and all  $\xi \in (0, \infty)^d$ ;

(ii) m is an odd function in each of the components  $\xi_1, \xi_2, \dots, \xi_\ell$ , i.e.,

$$m\left(\xi_{1},...,\xi_{j-1},-\xi_{j},\xi_{j+1}...,\xi_{d}\right) = -m\left(\xi_{1},...,\xi_{j-1},\xi_{j},\xi_{j+1}...,\xi_{d}\right),\tag{73}$$
  
for all  $1 \leq j \leq \ell$ , and all  $\xi_{1},\xi_{2},...,\xi_{d} \in \mathbb{R}.$ 

For any integer  $\nu$  we denote by  $I_{\nu}$  the interval  $[2^{\nu-1}, 2^{\nu}]$ . For every  $k' = (k_1, ..., k_{\ell}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$  we consider the positive dyadic box  $I_{k'} := I_{k_1} \times ... \times I_{k_{\ell}}$  and we associate to it the  $\ell$ -symmetric set:

$$s_{\ell}(I_{k'}) := \bigcup_{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{\ell} \in \{0,1\}} ((-1)^{\alpha_1} I_{k_1}) \times \dots \times ((-1)^{\alpha_{\ell}} I_{k_{\ell}}) \subset \mathbb{R}^{\ell}.$$

The next technical Lemma is the basis for all of our results in this section. Its proof consists in slightly adapting some arguments of Bourgain and Br ezis (see [5, Lemma 3, p. 404]):

**Lemma 30.** Let  $d \ge 1$  be an integer and let  $m : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$  be an  $\ell$ -BB symbol for some  $1 \le \ell \le d$ and some constant C.

Then,

$$\sum_{k' \in \mathbb{Z}^{\ell}} \left| \int_{s_{\ell}(I_{k'}) \times M} m(\xi) e^{i \langle \xi, x \rangle} d\xi \right| \lesssim C,$$

for any measurable subset  $M \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{d-\ell}$  of finite measure, uniformly in  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and in M. (By convention, if  $\ell = d$ , then  $s_{\ell}(I_{k'}) \times M$  is replaced by  $s_d(I_{k'})$ .)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Here, BB stands for "Bourgain-Brézis".

**Proof.** We first prove Lemma 30 in the case where m is a d-BB symbol. In this case we have to prove that

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \left| \int_{s_d(I_k)} m(\xi) e^{i\langle \xi, x \rangle} d\xi \right| \lesssim C, \tag{74}$$

uniformly in  $x = (x_1, ..., x_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d$ .

Since m is odd in the variables  $\xi_1, ..., \xi_d$ , for any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  one can write,

$$\int_{s_d(I_k)} m(\xi) e^{i\langle\xi,x\rangle} d\xi = \int_{s_d(I_k)} m(\xi) \prod_{j=1}^d e^{i\xi_j x_j} d\xi = (2i)^d \int_{I_k} m(\xi) \prod_{j=1}^d \sin(\xi_j x_j) d\xi.$$
(75)

Now, let us notice that whenever  $a : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}, b_1, ..., b_d : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  are sufficiently smooth functions and  $J_j = [q_j, r_j], (q_j < r_j), j = 1, ..., d$  are d intervals, we have

$$\int_{J_1 \times \dots \times J_d} a(\xi) \prod_{j=1}^d b_j(\xi_j) d\xi = \sum_{\alpha \in \{0,1\}^d} \int_{J_1 \times \dots \times J_d} (-\nabla)^\alpha a(\xi) \prod_{j=1}^d [b_j(\xi_j)]_{J_j}^{\alpha_j} d\xi,$$
(76)

where, for each  $1 \leq j \leq d$ , the quantity  $[b_j(\xi_j)]_{J_j}^{\alpha_j}$  is defined<sup>6</sup> as follows

$$\left[b_{j}\left(\xi_{j}\right)\right]_{J_{j}}^{0} := \left(\int_{q_{j}}^{r_{j}} b_{j}\left(t\right) dt\right) \delta_{r_{j}}\left(\xi_{j}\right) \text{ and } \left[b_{j}\left(\xi_{j}\right)\right]_{J_{j}}^{1} := \int_{q_{j}}^{\xi_{j}} b_{j}\left(t\right) dt,$$

where  $\delta_{r_j}$  is the Dirac measure on  $\mathbb{R}$  concentrated in  $r_j$ . The formula (76) easily follows by induction on d and integration by parts.

Fix some integers  $k_1, ..., k_d$  and consider the intervals  $I_{k_j} = [2^{k_j-1}, 2^{k_j}], j = 1, ..., d$ . By applying (76) to the functions a = m and  $b_j(\xi_j) = \sin(\xi_j x_j)$ , we obtain

$$\int_{I_{k_1} \times \dots \times I_{k_d}} m(\xi) \prod_{j=1}^d \sin(\xi_j x_j) \, d\xi = \sum_{\alpha \in \{0,1\}^d} \int_{I_{k_1} \times \dots \times I_{k_d}} \left( -\nabla \right)^\alpha m\left(\xi\right) \prod_{j=1}^d \left[ \sin\left(\xi_j x_j\right) \right]_{I_{k_j}}^{\alpha_j} \, d\xi. \tag{77}$$

By a direct computation,

$$\left| \int_{J} \sin\left(t \cdot x_{j}\right) dt \right| \lesssim \min\left( 4^{k_{j}} \left| x_{j} \right|, \frac{1}{\left| x_{j} \right|} \right),$$

for any subinterval  $J \subset I_{k_i}$ , and consequently,

$$\left| \left[ \sin\left(\xi_j x_j\right) \right]_{I_{k_j}}^{\alpha_j} \right| \lesssim \min\left( 4^{k_j} \left| x_j \right|, \frac{1}{\left| x_j \right|} \right), \tag{78}$$

for any j = 1, ..., d, any  $\alpha_j \in \{0, 1\}$  and any  $\xi_j \in I_{k_j}$ .

Let us fix some integer  $0 \le l \le d$  and consider the case of  $\alpha = (1, ..., 1, 0, ..., 0) \in \{0, 1\}^d$  (*l* values equal to 1). By (78) we get that the quantity

$$\int_{I_{k_1} \times \ldots \times I_{k_d}} \left( -\nabla \right)^{\alpha} m\left(\xi\right) \prod_{j=1}^d \left[ \sin\left(\xi_j x_j\right) \right]_{I_{k_j}}^{\alpha_j} d\xi$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Strictly speaking we should write  $[b_j(\cdot)]_{J_j}^{\alpha_j}(\xi_j)$  instead of  $[b_j(\xi_j)]_{J_j}^{\alpha_j}$ . However, for simplicity we prefer here to use the last notation.

is bounded by

$$\left(\int_{I_{k_1} \times \ldots \times I_{k_l}} \left| \partial_1 \ldots \partial_l m\left(\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_l, 2^{k_{l+1}}, \ldots, 2^{k_d}\right) \right| d\xi_1 \ldots d\xi_l \right) \prod_{j=1}^d \min\left( 4^{k_j} \left| x_j \right|, \frac{1}{\left| x_j \right|} \right).$$
(79)

Fix some index  $\mu \in \{1, ..., d\}$ . Using the fact that m is a d-BB symbol one can write (see (72))

$$\begin{split} \int_{I_{k_1} \times \ldots \times I_{k_l}} \left| \partial_1 \ldots \partial_l m \left( \xi_1, \ldots, \xi_l, 2^{k_{l+1}}, \ldots, 2^{k_d} \right) \right| d\xi_1 \ldots d\xi_l &\leq C \int_{I_{k_1} \times \ldots \times I_{k_l}} \frac{1}{2^{k_\mu (d+l)}} d\xi_1 \ldots d\xi_l \\ &\sim C \frac{2^{k_1 + \ldots + k_l}}{2^{k_\mu (d+l)}}. \end{split}$$

Combining this with (79) we get that

$$\left| \int_{I_{k_1} \times \ldots \times I_{k_d}} \left( -\nabla \right)^{\alpha} m\left(\xi\right) \prod_{j=1}^d \left[ \sin\left(\xi_j x_j\right) \right]_{I_{k_j}}^{\alpha_j} d\xi \right| \lesssim C \frac{2^{k_1 + \ldots + k_l}}{2^{k_\mu (d+l)}} \prod_{j=1}^d \min\left( 4^{k_j} |x_j|, \frac{1}{|x_j|} \right),$$

and hence, for  $\Gamma_{\mu} := \{ k = (k_1, ..., k_d) \in \mathbb{Z}^d \mid k_{\mu} = \max_{1 \le j \le d} k_j \},\$ 

$$\sum_{k\in\Gamma_{\mu}}\left|\int_{I_{k_{1}}\times\ldots\times I_{k_{d}}}\left(-\nabla\right)^{\alpha}m\left(\xi\right)\prod_{j=1}^{d}\left[\sin\left(\xi_{j}x_{j}\right)\right]_{I_{k_{j}}}^{\alpha_{j}}d\xi\right.$$

is bounded by

$$C\sum_{k\in\Gamma_{\mu}}\frac{2^{k_{1}+\ldots+k_{l}}}{2^{k_{\mu}(d+l)}}\prod_{j=1}^{d}\min\left(4^{k_{j}}\left|x_{j}\right|,\frac{1}{\left|x_{j}\right|}\right) = C\sum_{k\in\Gamma_{\mu}}\frac{2^{k_{1}+\ldots+k_{l}}}{2^{k_{\mu}(d+l)}}2^{k_{1}+\ldots+k_{d}}\prod_{j=1}^{d}\min\left(2^{k_{j}}\left|x_{j}\right|,\frac{1}{2^{k_{j}}\left|x_{j}\right|}\right).$$
(80)

For any  $k \in \Gamma_{\mu}$  we have  $k_{\mu} = \max_{1 \leq j \leq d} k_j$ . Hence, we can write

$$\frac{2^{k_1+\ldots+k_l}}{2^{k_\mu(d+l)}}2^{k_1+\ldots+k_d} = \prod_{j=1}^l 2^{k_j-k_\mu} \prod_{j=1}^d 2^{k_j-k_\mu} \le 1,$$

and therefore, the right hand side of (80) is at most

$$C\sum_{k\in\Gamma_{\mu}}\prod_{j=1}^{d}\min\left(2^{k_{j}}|x_{j}|,\frac{1}{2^{k_{j}}|x_{j}|}\right) \leq C\sum_{k_{1},k_{2},\dots,k_{d}\in\mathbb{Z}}\prod_{j=1}^{d}\min\left(2^{k_{j}}|x_{j}|,\frac{1}{2^{k_{j}}|x_{j}|}\right)$$
$$= C\prod_{j=1}^{d}\sum_{k_{j}\in\mathbb{Z}}\min\left(2^{k_{j}}|x_{j}|,\frac{1}{2^{k_{j}}|x_{j}|}\right) \lesssim C.$$

In other words, we have seen that for any  $\mu \in \{1, ..., d\}$  and any multiindex  $\alpha \in \{0, 1\}^d$  of the form  $\alpha = (1, ...1, 0, ..., 0)$ ,

$$\sum_{k\in\Gamma_{\mu}} \left| \int_{I_{k_1}\times\ldots\times I_{k_d}} \left( -\nabla \right)^{\alpha} m\left(\xi\right) \prod_{j=1}^d \left[ \sin\left(\xi_j x_j\right) \right]_{I_{k_j}}^{\alpha_j} d\xi \right| \lesssim C.$$
(81)

Clearly, (81) remains true for any  $\alpha \in \{0,1\}^d$ . Now, observing that  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  is covered by the union of the sets  $\Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_d$ , one can write

$$\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^d} \left| \int_{I_{k_1}\times\ldots\times I_{k_d}} \left( -\nabla \right)^{\alpha} m\left(\xi\right) \prod_{j=1}^d \left[ \sin\left(\xi_j x_j\right) \right]_{I_{k_j}}^{\alpha_j} d\xi \right| \le \sum_{\mu=1}^d \sum_{k\in\Gamma_\mu} \ldots \lesssim C.$$

This, together with (75) and (77) proves Lemma 30 in the case  $\ell = d$  (i.e., (74)). The case where  $1 \leq \ell < d$ , can be obtained from the case  $\ell = d$  as follows.

Suppose that  $1 \leq \ell < d$  and m is an  $\ell$ -BB symbol. Let M be a measurable subset of  $\mathbb{R}^{d-\ell}$  of finite measure. For each  $x'' \in \mathbb{R}^{d-\ell}$  define the function  $\widetilde{m}_{x''} : \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \to \mathbb{C}$  by

$$\widetilde{m}_{x''}\left(\xi'\right) := \int_{M} m(\xi',\xi'') e^{i\langle\xi'',x''\rangle} d\xi'',$$

for all  $\xi' \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ . Thanks to the fact that *m* satisfies the condition (71),  $\widetilde{m}_{x''}$  is well-defined and it satisfies uniformly in  $\theta''$  the condition (72) as a symbol on  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ . Indeed,

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_{1}^{\alpha_{1}}...\partial_{\ell}^{\alpha_{\ell}}\widetilde{m}_{x''}(\xi')| &= \left| \int_{M} \partial_{1}^{\alpha_{1}}...\partial_{\ell}^{\alpha_{\ell}}m(\xi',\xi'')e^{i\langle\xi'',x''\rangle}d\xi'' \right| \\ &\leq \int_{M} |\partial_{1}^{\alpha_{1}}...\partial_{\ell}^{\alpha_{\ell}}m(\xi',\xi'')|d\xi'' \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-\ell}} |\partial_{1}^{\alpha_{1}}...\partial_{\ell}^{\alpha_{\ell}}m(\xi',\xi'')|d\xi'' \\ &\leq \frac{C}{|\xi'|^{\ell+|\alpha|}}, \end{aligned}$$
(82)

for all  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_\ell) \in \{0, 1\}^\ell$  and all  $\xi' \in (0, \infty)^\ell$ . (Note that the final estimate in (82) does not depend on the set M.)

Also,  $\widetilde{m}_{\theta''}$  is odd in each variable and hence, we have (73). Now, using (72) for  $\widetilde{m}_{\theta''}$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k'\in\mathbb{Z}^{\ell}} \left| \int_{s_{\ell}(I_{k'})\times M} m(\xi) e^{i\langle\xi,x\rangle} d\xi \right| &= \sum_{k'\in\mathbb{N}^{\ell}} \left| \int_{s_{\ell}(I_{k'})} \left( \int_{M} m(\xi',\xi'') e^{i\langle\xi'',x''\rangle} d\xi'' \right) e^{i\langle\xi',x'\rangle} d\xi' \right| \\ &= \sum_{k'\in\mathbb{N}^{\ell}} \left| \int_{s_{\ell}(I_{k'})} \widetilde{m}_{x''}(\xi') e^{i\langle\xi',x'\rangle} d\xi' \right| \lesssim C, \end{split}$$

uniformly in  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , which proves Lemma 30.

By applying Lemma 30 we can deduce the following useful fact:

**Lemma 31.** Let  $d \ge 1$  and  $1 \le \ell \le d$  be some integers, and let  $m : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$  be an  $\ell$ -BB symbol satisfying condition (71) or (71) (when  $\ell = d$ ) for some constant C. Then, there exists some kernel  $K \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that  $\widehat{K}(\xi) = m(\xi)$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\|K\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim C$ , the implicit constant not depending on C.

**Remark 32.** The meaning of Lemma 31 is that there exists a unique function  $K \in L^{\infty}$ , such that  $\|K\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C$  and

$$\langle K, \psi \rangle = \left\langle m, \widehat{\psi} \right\rangle,$$

for any function  $\psi \in S_{\sharp}$ .

**Proof.** For each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we consider the functions  $K_n$  defined by

$$\widehat{K_n}(\xi) = m(\xi) \mathbf{1}_{J_n^d}(\xi)$$

for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , where  $J_n := [-2^n, -2^{-n}] \cup [2^{-n}, 2^n]$  and  $J_n^d = J_n \times ... \times J_n$  (d times). It is easy to see that  $K_n$  are well defined continuous functions. One can also see that  $K^n$  are uniformly bounded. Indeed, applying Lemma 30 for  $M = J_n^{d-\ell}$  (we suppose that  $\ell < d$ ; the case  $\ell = d$  is similar) we can write (using the triangle inequality),

$$K_{n}(x)| \sim \left| \int_{J_{n}^{\ell} \times J_{n}^{d-\ell}} m(\xi) e^{i\langle \xi, x \rangle} d\xi \right|$$
$$= \left| \sum_{\substack{k' \in \mathbb{Z}^{\ell} \\ s_{\ell}(I_{k'}) \subseteq J_{n}^{\ell}}} \int_{s_{\ell}(I_{k'}) \times J_{n}^{d-\ell}} m(\xi) e^{i\langle \xi, x \rangle} d\xi \right|$$
$$\leq \sum_{k' \in \mathbb{Z}^{\ell}} \left| \int_{s_{\ell}(I_{k'}) \times J_{n}^{d-\ell}} m(\xi) e^{i\langle \xi, x \rangle} d\xi \right| \lesssim C$$

uniformly in  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , and in  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . (Here, for "=", we have used the fact that the sets  $s_\ell(I_{k'})$ with  $s_\ell(I_{k'}) \subseteq J_n^\ell$  are pairwise almost disjoint and they cover  $J_n^\ell$ .) Hence,  $||K_n||_{L^\infty} \leq C$  uniformly in  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Using the sequential Banach-Alaoglu theorem, we can find some  $K \in L^\infty$ , with  $||K||_{L^\infty} \leq C$  and such that  $K_n \to K$  in the  $w^*$ -topology on  $L^\infty$ , up to a subsequence.

Consider now some  $\psi \in S_{\sharp}$ . Clearly, for any n,

$$\langle K_n, \psi \rangle = \left\langle m \mathbf{1}_{J_n^d}, \widehat{\psi} \right\rangle.$$
 (83)

Since  $\psi \in L^1$  we have  $\langle K_n, \psi \rangle \to \langle K, \psi \rangle$  up to a subsequence when  $n \to \infty$ . Also, we have

$$\left\langle m\mathbf{1}_{J_{n}^{d}},\widehat{\psi}\right\rangle \rightarrow\left\langle m,\widehat{\psi}\right\rangle ,$$

and by (83) we get

$$\langle K, \psi \rangle = \left\langle m, \widehat{\psi} \right\rangle.$$
 (84)

The uniqueness of K immediately follows from (84). Lemma 31 is proved.

## 4.2 Divergence-like equations in $\dot{W}^{d/2,2}$

We can now prove our existence result for divergence-like equations in a particular type of critical spectral spaces. We start by an analogue of [5, Lemma 2]. The proof we give below rests on some elaborations of the main ideas used by Bourgain and Brézis in the proof of [5, Lemma 2]. Lemma 31 from the previous subsection will play here an important role.

In what follows let us denote by  $\nabla_2^{\sigma} u$  the first two components of the " $\sigma$ -gradient" of u, namely,

$$\nabla_2^{\sigma} u := (\partial_1^{\sigma} u, \partial_2^{\sigma} u),$$

where  $\partial_j^{\sigma}$  is the Fourier multiplier  $\partial_j^{\sigma} := \sigma_j(\nabla)$ .

**Lemma 33.** Let  $d \geq 3$  be an integer. Consider the set  $U := \mathbb{R}^{d-1} \times (0, \infty)$ . If  $\sigma : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfies (P1), (P2) then,

$$\left\| |\nabla|^{-1} |\nabla_{2}^{\sigma}|^{2} u \right\|_{Y^{*}/U} \lesssim \|\nabla_{2}^{\sigma} u\|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/U} + \|\nabla_{2}^{\sigma} u\|_{Y^{*}/U}^{1/2} \|\nabla_{2}^{\sigma} u\|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/U}^{1/2},$$

$$(85)$$

for any  $u \in S_{\sharp}$ , where  $Y := \dot{W}^{d/2,2}$ .

(For the meaning of the notation  $Y^*/U$  and  $(L^1 + Y^*)/U$  see subsection 2.3.) **Proof.** Clearly,  $Y^* = \dot{W}^{-d/2,2}$ . First we show that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\sigma_1^2(\xi)\sigma_2^2(\xi)}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi) \left| \widehat{u}(\xi) \right|^2 d\xi \lesssim \left\| \nabla_2^{\sigma} u \right\|_{(L^1+Y^*)/U}^2 + \left\| \nabla_2^{\sigma} u \right\|_{Y^*/U} \left\| \nabla_2^{\sigma} u \right\|_{(L^1+Y^*)/U}, \tag{86}$$

for any function  $u \in \mathcal{S}_{\sharp}$ .

Consider some functions  $F_1, F_2, h_1, h_2, F_1^-, F_2^- \in S_{\sharp}$  with  $spec(F_1^-), spec(F_2^-) \subseteq U^c$  such that

$$\nabla_2^{\sigma} u = (F_1, F_2) + (h_1, h_2) + (F_1^-, F_2^-), \tag{87}$$

and

$$\|F_1\|_{L^1} + \|F_2\|_{L^1} + \|h_1\|_{Y^*} + \|h_2\|_{Y^*} \le 2 \|\nabla_2^{\sigma} u\|_{(L^1 + Y^*)/U}.$$
(88)

We have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\sigma_1^2(\xi)\sigma_2^2(\xi)}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi) \, |\widehat{u}(\xi)|^2 \, d\xi = c \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\sigma_1(\xi)\sigma_2(\xi)}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi)\widehat{\partial_1^\sigma u}(\xi) \overline{\widehat{\partial_2^\sigma u}(\xi)} \, d\xi,$$

Using this, (87) and the fact that  $spec(F_j^-) \subseteq U^c$  (and hence  $\mathbf{1}_U(\xi)\widehat{F_j^-}(\xi) = 0$ , for j = 1, 2 and for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ), we can write

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\sigma_1^2(\xi) \sigma_2^2(\xi)}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi) \, |\widehat{u}(\xi)|^2 \, d\xi = I + II,$$

where

$$I := c \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\sigma_1(\xi)\sigma_2(\xi)}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi)\widehat{F_1}(\xi)\overline{\widehat{F_2}(\xi)}d\xi,$$

and II is the sum of a finite number of terms of the form

$$c \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\sigma_1(\xi)\sigma_2(\xi)}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi)g_1(\xi)g_2(\xi)d\xi,$$
(89)

where each  $g_k : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$  is one of the functions

$$\widehat{h}_1, \, \widehat{h}_2, \, \overline{\widehat{h}}_1, \, \overline{\widehat{h}}_2, \, \widehat{F}_1, \, \widehat{F}_2, \, \overline{\widehat{F}}_1, \, \overline{\widehat{F}}_2$$

and at least one  $g_k$  is  $\hat{h}_j$  or  $\overline{\hat{h}}_j$  for some  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ .

One can verify immediately that the symbol m defined by

$$m(\xi) := \frac{\sigma_1(\xi)\sigma_2(\xi)}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi), \ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\},$$

satisfies the conditions in Lemma 31. Hence, by a applying Lemma 31 and (88),

$$|I| \sim |\langle K * F_1, F_2 \rangle| \le ||K * F_1||_{L^{\infty}} ||F_2||_{L^1} \le ||K||_{L^{\infty}} ||F_1||_{L^1} ||F_2||_{L^1} \lesssim ||\nabla_2^{\sigma} u||_{(L^1 + Y^*)/U}^2.$$
(90)

(Here, we have used the notation from Lemma 31:  $\hat{K} = m$ .)

In order to estimate II we estimate each of its terms of the form (89). By the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we get

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\sigma_1(\xi)\sigma_2(\xi)}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi)g_1(\xi)g_2(\xi)d\xi \right| \le \prod_{k=1}^2 \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi) \frac{|g_k(\xi)|^2}{|\xi|^d} d\xi \right)^{1/2},\tag{91}$$

where we have used the inequality

$$\left|\frac{\sigma_1(\xi)\sigma_2(\xi)}{\left|\xi\right|^2}\right| \lesssim 1,$$

which follows directly from (P1).

Note that, if  $|g_k| = |\hat{h}_j|$ , for some  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ , then, by (88)

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi) \frac{|g_k(\xi)|^2}{|\xi|^d} d\xi\right)^{1/2} \le \|h_j\|_{Y^*} \le 2 \|\nabla_2^{\sigma} u\|_{(L^1 + Y^*)/U}.$$
(92)

If  $|g_k| = |\widehat{F}_j|$ , for some  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ , then, since  $\widehat{F}_j \mathbf{1}_U = (\widehat{\partial_j^{\sigma} u} - \widehat{h}_j) \mathbf{1}_U$ , the triangle inequality together with (88) gives

$$\left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathbf{1}_{U}(\xi) \frac{|g_{k}(\xi)|^{2}}{|\xi|^{d}} d\xi \right)^{1/2} = \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathbf{1}_{U}(\xi) |\xi|^{-d} \left| \widehat{\partial_{j}^{\sigma} u}(\xi) - \widehat{h}_{j}(\xi) \right|^{2} d\xi \right)^{1/2} \\
\leq \left\| \partial_{j}^{\sigma} u \right\|_{Y^{*}/U} + \left\| h_{j} \right\|_{Y^{*}} \\
\leq \left\| \nabla_{2}^{\sigma} u \right\|_{Y^{*}/U} + 2 \left\| \nabla_{2}^{\sigma} u \right\|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/U} \\
\leq 3 \left\| \nabla_{2}^{\sigma} u \right\|_{Y^{*}/U}.$$
(93)

Since  $|g_k| = |\hat{h}_j|$  (for some j) for at least one k, we get from (91), (92) and (93) that

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\sigma_1(\xi) \sigma_2(\xi)}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi) g_1(\xi) g_2(\xi) d\xi \right| \lesssim \|\nabla_2^{\sigma} u\|_{Y^*/U} \|\nabla_2^{\sigma} u\|_{(L^1+Y^*)/U}$$

Hence,

$$|II| \lesssim \|\nabla_2^{\sigma} u\|_{Y^*/U} \|\nabla_2^{\sigma} u\|_{(L^1 + Y^*)/U}.$$
(94)

By (93) and (94) we get (86).

Consider the rotation

 $R(\xi) = (\xi_1 - \xi_2, \xi_1 + \xi_2, \xi_3, ..., \xi_d),$ 

for any  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . Consider now the functions

$$\sigma'_1 := \sigma_1 \circ R - \sigma_2 \circ R$$
, and  $\sigma'_2 := \sigma_1 \circ R + \sigma_2 \circ R$ .

One can immediately check that the function

$$\sigma_1'\sigma_2' := (\sigma_1 \circ R)^2 - (\sigma_2 \circ R)^2$$

is odd in each of the variables  $\xi_1, \xi_2$ . Using this, we easily observe that the symbol m' defined by

$$m'(\xi) := \frac{\sigma_1'(\xi)\sigma_2'(\xi)}{\left|\xi\right|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi), \ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\},$$

satisfies the conditions in Lemma 31. Hence, as in (86), we obtain that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\sigma_1'(\xi)^2 \sigma_2'(\xi)^2}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi) \, |\widehat{v}(\xi)|^2 \, d\xi \lesssim \left\| \nabla_2^{\sigma'} v \right\|_{(L^1 + Y^*)/U}^2 + \left\| \nabla_2^{\sigma'} v \right\|_{Y^*/U} \left\| \nabla_2^{\sigma'} v \right\|_{(L^1 + Y^*)/U},\tag{95}$$

for any function  $v \in \mathcal{S}_{\sharp}$ , where

$$\nabla_2^{\sigma'} v := (\partial_1^{\sigma'} v, \partial_2^{\sigma'} v),$$

and  $\partial_1^{\sigma'}$  is the Fourier multiplier of symbol  $\sigma'_j$ , for any j = 0, 1.

Since the spaces  $Y^*/U$  and  $(L^1 + Y^*)/U$  are invariant under the rotation R, by applying (95) to the function  $v = u \circ R^t$  we obtain (by changing the variables) that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\left(\sigma_1(\xi) - \sigma_2(\xi)\right)^2 \left(\sigma_1(\xi) + \sigma_2(\xi)\right)^2}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi) \left|\widehat{u}(\xi)\right|^2 d\xi$$

is bounded by

$$\left\|\nabla_{2}^{\sigma}u\right\|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/U}^{2}+\left\|\nabla_{2}^{\sigma}u\right\|_{Y^{*}/U}\left\|\nabla_{2}^{\sigma}u\right\|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/U},$$
(96)

for any function  $u \in S_{\sharp}$ . By adding up, we get from (86) and (96) that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\widetilde{\sigma}(\xi)}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi) \left| \widehat{u}(\xi) \right|^2 d\xi \lesssim \|\nabla_2^{\sigma} u\|_{(L^1 + Y^*)/U}^2 + \|\nabla_2^{\sigma} u\|_{Y^*/U} \|\nabla_2^{\sigma} u\|_{(L^1 + Y^*)/U}, \tag{97}$$

where

$$\widetilde{\sigma}(\xi) := \sigma_1^2(\xi)\sigma_2^2(\xi) + (\sigma_1(\xi) - \sigma_2(\xi))^2 (\sigma_1(\xi) + \sigma_2(\xi))^2$$

for any  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . Since for any real numbers a, b we have

$$a^{2}b^{2} + (a-b)^{2} (a+b)^{2} \sim a^{4} + b^{4},$$

we obtain

$$\widetilde{\sigma}(\xi) \sim \sigma_1^4(\xi) + \sigma_2^4(\xi),$$

for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , and now (97) gives us

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\sigma_1^4(\xi) + \sigma_2^4(\xi)}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_U(\xi) \, |\widehat{u}(\xi)|^2 \, d\xi \lesssim \|\nabla_2^{\sigma} u\|_{(L^1 + Y^*)/U}^2 + \|\nabla_2^{\sigma} u\|_{Y^*/U} \, \|\nabla_2^{\sigma} u\|_{(L^1 + Y^*)/U}.$$
(98)

Note that by (20) (with D = U), we have

$$\left\| |\nabla|^{-1} |\nabla_{2}^{\sigma}|^{2} u \right\|_{Y^{*}/U}^{N} \sim \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{\sigma_{1}^{4}(\xi) + \sigma_{2}^{4}(\xi)}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_{U}(\xi) |\widehat{u}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi$$

and together with (98) this concludes the proof of Lemma 33.

By composition with rotations and by adding up inequalities of the form (85), Lemma 33 easily implies the following:

**Lemma 34.** Let  $d \ge 3$  be an integer. Suppose that the family of functions  $G_1, ..., G_d : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$  is adapted to the family of half-spaces  $D_1, ..., D_d \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ . For any  $j \in \{1, ..., d\}$  we have

$$\left\| |\nabla|^{-1} |G_j(\nabla)|^2 u \right\|_{Y^*/U} \lesssim \|G_j(\nabla)u\|_{(L^1+Y^*)/D_j} + \|G_j(\nabla)u\|_{Y^*/D_j}^{1/2} \|G_j(\nabla)u\|_{(L^1+Y^*)/D_j}^{1/2},$$

for any  $u \in S_{\sharp}$ , where  $Y := \dot{W}^{d/2,2}$ .

(For the properties of the functions  $G_1, ..., G_d$  and their relation with the half-spaces  $D_1, ..., D_d$  see the subsection 1.3 in the introduction of this paper.)

We can now state and prove the existence results of this subsection:

**Lemma 35.** Let  $d \geq 3$  be an integer. Suppose that the family of functions  $G_1, ..., G_d : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ is adapted to the family of half-spaces  $D_1, ..., D_d \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ . Then, for any system of (d-1)-vector fields  $(v_j)_{j=1,..,d}$  with  $v_j \in \dot{W}^{d/2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $\operatorname{spec}(v_j) \subseteq D_j$ , there exists a system of (d-1)-vector fields  $(u_j)_{j=1,..,d}$ , with  $u_j \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{W}^{d/2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $\operatorname{spec}(u_j) \subseteq D_j$ , such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{d} G_j\left(\nabla\right) \cdot u_j = \sum_{j=1}^{d} G_j\left(\nabla\right) \cdot v_j,$$

and

$$\sum_{j=1}^d \|u_j\|_{L^{\infty}\cap \dot{W}^{d/2,2}} \lesssim \sum_{j=1}^d \|v_j\|_{\dot{W}^{d/2,2}}.$$

**Proof.** As before, let Y be the space  $\dot{W}^{d/2,2}$ . According to Lemma 34, for any  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}_{\sharp}$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| |\nabla|^{-1} |G_{j} (\nabla) |G_{j} (\nabla) \varphi \right\|_{Y^{*}/D_{j}} &\lesssim & \|G_{j} (\nabla) \varphi \|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/D_{j}} \\ &+ \|G_{j} (\nabla) \varphi \|_{Y^{*}/D_{j}}^{1/2} \|G_{j} (\nabla) \varphi \|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/D_{j}}^{1/2} \\ &= & \|G_{j} (\nabla) \varphi \|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/D_{j}} \\ &+ (\varepsilon^{1/2} \|G_{j} (\nabla) \varphi \|_{Y^{*}/D_{j}}^{1/2}) (\varepsilon^{-1/2} \|G_{j} (\nabla) \varphi \|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/D_{j}}^{1/2}) \\ &\leq & \|G_{j} (\nabla) \varphi \|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/D_{j}} \\ &+ \varepsilon \|G_{j} (\nabla) \varphi \|_{Y^{*}/D_{j}} + \varepsilon^{-1} \|G_{j} (\nabla) \varphi \|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/D_{j}}, \end{split}$$

for any  $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$  and any  $j \in \{1, ..., d\}$ . By adding up these inequalities we get

$$\sum_{j=1}^{d} \left\| \left| \nabla \right|^{-1} \left| G_{j} \left( \nabla \right) \left| G_{j} \left( \nabla \right) \varphi \right\|_{Y^{*}/D_{j}} \right\| \lesssim \varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left\| G_{j} \left( \nabla \right) \varphi \right\|_{Y^{*}/D_{j}} + \varepsilon^{1-N} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left\| G_{j} \left( \nabla \right) \varphi \right\|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/D_{j}}.$$
(99)

Since the family  $G_1, \ldots, G_d$  is adapted to  $D_1, \ldots, D_d$ , (see (10)) we easily get

$$\sum_{j=1}^{d} |G_j(\xi)|^{\beta} \mathbf{1}_{D_j}(\xi) \sim_{\beta} |\xi|^{\beta} \mathbf{1}_{D}(\xi),$$
(100)

on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , for any  $\beta > 0$ . Using now (100), with  $\beta = 2$ , we can write

$$\sum_{j=1}^{d} \left\| |\nabla|^{-1} |G_{j}(\nabla) |G_{j}(\nabla) \varphi \|_{Y^{*}/D_{j}} \sim \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left\| |\xi|^{-1} |G_{j}(\xi)|^{2} \mathbf{1}_{D_{j}}(\xi) |\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)| |\xi|^{-d/2} \right\|_{L_{\xi}^{2}} \\
\sim \left\| |\xi|^{-1} \left( \sum_{j=1}^{d} |G_{j}(\xi)|^{2} \mathbf{1}_{D_{j}}(\xi) \right) |\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)| |\xi|^{-d/2} \right\|_{L_{\xi}^{2}} \\
\sim \left\| |\xi|^{-1} |\xi|^{2} \mathbf{1}_{D}(\xi) |\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)| |\xi|^{-d/2} \right\|_{L_{\xi}^{2}} \\
= \left\| |\xi| \mathbf{1}_{D}(\xi) |\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)| |\xi|^{-d/2} \right\|_{L_{\xi}^{2}}.$$
(101)

In a similar way (by (10)) we can write

$$\sum_{j=1}^{d} \|G_{j}(\nabla)\varphi\|_{Y^{*}/D_{j}} \sim \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left\| |G_{j}(\xi)| \mathbf{1}_{D_{j}}(\xi)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)| |\xi|^{-d/2} \right\|_{L^{2}_{\xi}} \\ \sim \left\| \left( \sum_{j=1}^{d} |G_{j}(\xi)| \mathbf{1}_{D_{j}}(\xi) \right) \widehat{\varphi}(\xi)| |\xi|^{-d/2} \right\|_{L^{2}_{\xi}} \\ \sim \left\| |\xi| \mathbf{1}_{D}(\xi)| \widehat{\varphi}(\xi)| |\xi|^{-d/2} \right\|_{L^{2}_{\xi}}.$$
(102)

Note that (101) and (102) gives us

$$\sum_{j=1}^{d} \left\| \left| \nabla \right|^{-1} \left| G_{j} \left( \nabla \right) \right| G_{j} \left( \nabla \right) \varphi \right\|_{Y^{*}/D_{j}} \sim \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left\| G_{j} \left( \nabla \right) \varphi \right\|_{Y^{*}/D_{j}},$$

and together with (99) yields

$$\sum_{j=1}^{d} \left\| G_{j}\left(\nabla\right)\varphi \right\|_{Y^{*}/D_{j}} \lesssim \varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left\| G_{j}\left(\nabla\right)\varphi \right\|_{Y^{*}/D_{j}} + \varepsilon^{-1} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left\| G_{j}\left(\nabla\right)\varphi \right\|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/D_{j}}$$

Choosing  $\varepsilon$  sufficiently small one can write

$$\sum_{j=1}^{d} \left\| G_{j}\left(\nabla\right)\varphi \right\|_{Y^{*}/D_{j}} \lesssim \sum_{j=1}^{d} \left\| G_{j}\left(\nabla\right)\varphi \right\|_{\left(L^{1}+Y^{*}\right)/D_{j}}.$$

By duality (using the closed range theorem) we get Lemma 35.

With the same methods one can prove an analogue of Theorem 8 when d = 2 and the source space is  $\dot{W}^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ :

**Lemma 36.** Consider the numbers  $\delta \in (0, \pi/8)$  and  $\varepsilon \in (0, 2]$ . Then, for any vector field  $v \in \dot{W}^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , with  $\operatorname{spec}(v) \subseteq C_{\delta}$ , there exist a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2) \cap \dot{W}^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , with  $\operatorname{spec}(u_j) \subseteq C_{(1+\varepsilon)\delta}$ , such that

$$\operatorname{div} u = \operatorname{div} v,$$

and

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}\cap \dot{W}^{1,2}} \lesssim ||v||_{\dot{W}^{1,2}}$$
.

(For the meaning of  $C_{\delta}$  see subsection 1.3.)

Sketch of the proof. First we establish the result for  $\varepsilon = 2$ . Let us denote by  $\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta})$  the set defined by

$$\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta}) := \bigcup_{I \subset C_{\delta}} I_{\nu},$$

the union being taken after all the dyadic boxes  $I_{\nu} = [2^{\nu_1-1}, 2^{\nu_1}] \times [2^{\nu_2-1}, 2^{\nu_2}]$  (where  $\nu = (\nu_1, \nu_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ ) that are included in  $C_{\delta}$  and are maximal (with respect to the inclusion relation) with this property. One can find a finite number of rotations  $R_1, ..., R_n : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  such that

$$C_{\delta} \setminus B_{\mathbb{R}^2}(0, r) \subset \widetilde{C}_{\delta} := \bigcup_{j=1}^n R_j(\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta})) \subset C_{2\delta},$$
(103)

for some sufficiently large r > 0. As in the proof of (86) we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{(\xi_1 \xi_2)^2}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta})}(\xi) \, |\hat{u}(\xi)|^2 \, d\xi \lesssim \|\nabla u\|_{(L^1 + Y^*)/\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta})}^2 + \|\nabla u\|_{Y^*/\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta})} \, \|\nabla u\|_{(L^1 + Y^*)/\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta})} \,, \quad (104)$$

for any  $u \in S_{\sharp}$ , where  $Y = \dot{W}^{d/2,2}$ . As in the proof of Lemma 31, by Lemma 30 (applied in the case  $\ell = d = 2$ ) one can see that there exists  $K \in L^{\infty}$  such that

$$\widehat{K}(\xi) = \frac{\xi_1 \xi_2}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta})}(\xi),$$

with the same meaning as in Lemma 31. We use then the same method as in (90). The rest of the argument remains essentially the same as the one used in the proof of (86).

Note that, by (104) we get (by composition with rotations) that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{(R_{j}^{1}(\xi)R_{j}^{2}(\xi))^{2}}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_{R_{j}(\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta}))}(\xi) |\widehat{u}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi \lesssim \|\nabla u\|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/R_{j}(\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta}))}^{2} + \|\nabla u\|_{Y^{*}/R_{j}(\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta}))} \|\nabla u\|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/R_{j}(\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta}))},$$

for all  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , where  $R_j^l(\xi)$  is the *l*-th coordinate of the vector  $R_j(\xi)$ . Using the (103) we get

$$\|\nabla u\|_{Y^*/R_j(\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta}))} \leq \|\nabla u\|_{Y^*/\widetilde{C}_{\delta}} \quad \text{and} \quad \|\nabla u\|_{(L^1+Y^*)/R_j(\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta}))} \leq \|\nabla u\|_{(L^1+Y^*)/\widetilde{C}_{\delta}}$$
for all  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , and one can write

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{(R_{j}^{1}(\xi)R_{j}^{2}(\xi))^{2}}{|\xi|^{d+2}} \mathbf{1}_{R_{j}(\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta}))}(\xi) |\widehat{u}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi \lesssim \|\nabla u\|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/\widetilde{C}_{\delta}} + \|\nabla u\|_{Y^{*}/\widetilde{C}_{\delta}} \|\nabla u\|_{(L^{1}+Y^{*})/\widetilde{C}_{\delta}}, \qquad (105)$$

for all  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ . One can easily check that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} (R_{j}^{1}(\xi)R_{j}^{2}(\xi))^{2} \mathbf{1}_{R_{j}(\mathcal{D}(C_{\delta}))}(\xi) \sim |\xi|^{4} \, \mathbf{1}_{\widetilde{C}_{\delta}}(\xi),$$

for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^2$ . Hence, by adding up the inequalities (105) we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|\xi|^2}{|\xi|^d} \mathbf{1}_{\widetilde{C}_{\delta}}(\xi) |\widehat{u}(\xi)|^2 d\xi \lesssim \|\nabla u\|_{(L^1+Y^*)/\widetilde{C}_{\delta}}^2 + \|\nabla u\|_{Y^*/\widetilde{C}_{\delta}} \|\nabla u\|_{(L^1+Y^*)/\widetilde{C}_{\delta}},$$

which can be rewritten as

$$\|\nabla u\|_{Y^*/\widetilde{C}_{\delta}} \lesssim \|\nabla u\|_{(L^1+Y^*)/\widetilde{C}_{\delta}} + \|\nabla u\|_{Y^*/\widetilde{C}_{\delta}}^{1/2} \|\nabla u\|_{(L^1+Y^*)/\widetilde{C}_{\delta}}^{1/2}.$$
 (106)

By duality (as in the proof of Lemma 35) we obtain that for any vector field  $v \in \dot{W}^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , with  $spec(v) \subseteq \tilde{C}_{\delta}$ , there exist a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{W}^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , with  $spec(u_j) \subseteq \tilde{C}_{\delta}$ , such that

$$\operatorname{div} u = \operatorname{div} v,$$

and

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}\cap \dot{W}^{1,2}} \lesssim \|v\|_{\dot{W}^{1,2}}$$
 .

Thanks to (103) this immediately implies Lemma 36 in the case  $\varepsilon = 2$ . To obtain the result for any  $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$  simply cover the symmetric cone  $C_{\delta}$  with a small union of rotated copies of the symmetric cones  $C_{\delta/n}$  for some large integer n > 0. It suffices now to apply the result corresponding to the case  $\varepsilon = 2$  to each rotated copy of  $C_{\delta/n}$  and then add the obtained solutions.  $\Box$ 

## 5 Solutions in interpolation spaces

## 5.1 Proof of the main results

We now discuss some immediate applications of the  $\mathcal{W}$ -method to the divergence-like equation. First we formulate a general result:

**Theorem 37.** Let  $X, \tilde{X}, Y, \tilde{Y}, F$  be Banach function spaces on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  satisfying the embeddings  $X \hookrightarrow \tilde{X}, Y \hookrightarrow \tilde{Y} \hookrightarrow \tilde{X}$  and consider a bounded linear operator  $T : \tilde{X} \to F$ . Suppose moreover that the following conditions are satisfied:

(i)  $\tilde{X}$ , Y,  $\tilde{Y}$  are UMD separable spaces;

(ii) T is bounded from X to F and from Y to F, and  $T(Y) \hookrightarrow T(L^{\infty} \cap \tilde{Y})$ .

Fix some  $\theta \in (0,1)$ . Then, for any vector field  $v \in (L^{\infty} \cap X, Y)_{\theta}$ , there exists a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty} \cap (\tilde{X}, \tilde{Y})_{\theta}$  such that

$$Tu = Tv$$

and

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}\cap(\tilde{X},\tilde{Y})_{\theta}} \lesssim \|v\|_{(L^{\infty}\cap X,Y)_{\theta}}.$$

**Proof.** We apply Lemma 28 for the Banach spaces  $X_0 = \tilde{X}$ ,  $X_1 = \tilde{Y}$ ,  $A = L^{\infty}$ ,  $A_0 = L^{\infty} \cap \tilde{X}$ ,  $B_0 = L^{\infty} \cap X$ ,  $A_1 = L^{\infty} \cap \tilde{Y}$ ,  $B_1 = Y$  and the operator T. One can easily observe that in this setting the conditions of Lemma 28 (part of them are explicitly stated in Lemma 27) are satisfied. Indeed, in order to verify the condition (i) in Lemma 27 it suffices to see that  $X, Y \hookrightarrow \tilde{X}$  and hence,

$$B_1 \hookrightarrow X_1 = \tilde{Y} \hookrightarrow X_0 = \tilde{X},$$

and  $B_0 \hookrightarrow A_0$ .

The space  $\tilde{Y}$  is reflexive (since it has the UMD property) and hence, it has a separable predual<sup>7</sup>. Also,  $A = (L^1)^*$  has a separable predual. Thus, the condition (ii) in Lemma 27 is verified. Condition (iii) in Lemma 27 is ensured by condition (ii) in Theorem 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Here we use the fact that if the dual  $X^*$  of a Banach space X is separable, then, X is separable (see for instance [14, Theorem 4.6-8, 245]).

Notice that  $\tilde{X} \cap \tilde{Y}$  is a separable space that is dense in  $(\tilde{X}, \tilde{Y})_{\theta}$  (see [2, Theorem 4.2.2 (a), p. 91]). It follows that  $(\tilde{X}, \tilde{Y})_{\theta}$  is a reflexive and separable space and consequently it has a separable predual. We also have by (i) that the spaces  $\tilde{X}$ , Y,  $\tilde{Y}$  have the *UMD* property. We can apply now Lemma 28 and we get Theorem 37.

Let us see now that Theorem 37 above implies Theorem 10, Theorem 11, Theorem 9 and Theorem 8. In what follows we will ignore the space F since it is easy for the operators T we use to find a space F sufficiently large such that  $T: \tilde{X} \to F$  (one can simply set F of the form  $F = B_{\infty}^{-a,b}$  for some  $a, b \in (1, \infty)$ , with a sufficiently large).

**Proof of Theorem 10.** Let us consider some parameter  $r \in [2, \infty)$  such that  $1/p = (1 - \theta)/r + \theta/2$ . We apply Theorem 37 for the Banach spaces  $X = \dot{B}_1^{d/r,r}$ ,  $\tilde{X} = \dot{B}_2^{d/r,r}$  and  $Y = \tilde{Y} = \dot{B}_2^{d/2,2}$ . Since  $r \ge 2$ , we have  $\dot{B}_2^{d/2,2}$ ,  $B_1^{d/r,r} \hookrightarrow \dot{B}_2^{d/r,r}$ . Hence,  $X \hookrightarrow \tilde{X}$  and  $Y \hookrightarrow \tilde{Y} \hookrightarrow \tilde{X}$ . Also, by Mazya's theorem (Theorem 3 in the case p = q = 2) we have  $T(Y) \hookrightarrow T(L^{\infty} \cap \tilde{Y})$ , for the operator T = div. Now the hypotheses of Theorem 37 are satisfyed.

Observe that, since  $X = \dot{B}_1^{d/r,r} \hookrightarrow L^\infty$ , we have  $L^\infty \cap X = \dot{B}_1^{d/r,r}$  and we can write

$$(L^{\infty} \cap X, \dot{B}_{2}^{d/2,2})_{\theta} = (B_{1}^{d/r,r}, \dot{B}_{2}^{d/2,2})_{\theta} = B_{q}^{d/p,p}.$$

Since we also have

$$(\dot{B}_2^{d/r,r}, \dot{B}_2^{d/2,2})_{\theta} = \dot{B}_2^{d/p,p},$$

it remains to apply Theorem 37 and Theorem 10 is proved.

**Proof of Theorem 11.** As in the proof of Theorem 10 let us consider  $r \in [2, \infty)$  such that  $1/p = (1-\theta)/r + \theta/2$ . We apply Theorem 37 for the Banach spaces  $X = \dot{W}^{d/r}L^{r,1}$ ,  $\tilde{X} = \dot{W}^{d/r}L^{r,2}$  and  $Y = \tilde{Y} = \dot{W}^{d/2,2}$ . It remains to verify that the hypotheses of Theorem 37 are satisfyed. Indeed, by the monotonicity properties of the Lorentz spaces we also have  $\dot{W}^{d/r}L^{r,1} \hookrightarrow \dot{W}^{d/r}L^{r,2}$ , i.e.,  $X \hookrightarrow \tilde{X}$ . By Lemma 16 we get  $\dot{W}^{d/2,2} \hookrightarrow \tilde{X}$ , i.e.,  $Y = \tilde{Y} \hookrightarrow \tilde{X}$ . Also, by Mazya's theorem (Theorem 3 in the case p = q = 2) we have  $T(Y) \hookrightarrow T(L^{\infty} \cap \tilde{Y})$  and now the hypotheses of Theorem 37 are satisfyed.

By Lemma 17 we have  $\dot{W}^{d/2,2} \hookrightarrow \tilde{X}$  and  $X = \dot{W}^{d/r} L^{r,1} \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}$  and hence  $L^{\infty} \cap X = \dot{W}^{d/r} L^{r,1}$ . From this and Lemma 18 we get

$$(L^{\infty} \cap X, \dot{W}^{d/2,2})_{\theta} = (\dot{W}^{d/r} L^{r,1}, \dot{W}^{d/2,2})_{\theta} = \dot{W}^{d/p} L^{p,q}.$$
(107)

Lemma 18 also gives

$$(\dot{W}^{d/r}L^{r,2}, \dot{W}^{d/2,2})_{\theta} = \dot{W}^{d/p}L^{p,2},$$
(108)

and now one can easily conclude the proof of Theorem 11 by a direct application of Theorem 37.  $\Box$ 

**Proof of Theorem 9.** The proof is very similar to the one of Theorem 10. Suppose  $p, r, \theta$  are as in the proof of Theorem 10. We put

$$X = \prod_{j=1}^{d} (\dot{B}_{1}^{d/r,r})_{D_{j}}, \quad \widetilde{X} = \prod_{j=1}^{d} (\dot{B}_{2}^{d/r,r})_{D_{j}} \text{ and } Y = \widetilde{Y} = \prod_{j=1}^{d} (\dot{B}_{2}^{d/2,2})_{D_{j}}.$$

Now, the operator T is the operator formaly defined for the systems of (d-1)-vector fields by the formula

$$T(v_1, ..., v_d) = \sum_{j=1}^{a} G_j(\nabla) \cdot v_j,$$

where  $v_1, ..., v_d \in S'$  are (d-1)-vector fields. In order to verify the item (ii) in Theorem 37 we use Lemma 35 instead of Mazya's theorem. It remains to apply Theorem 37 and to observe that, by the retraction method,

$$((\dot{B}_1^{d/r,r})_{D_j}, (\dot{B}_2^{d/2,2})_{D_j})_{\theta} = (\dot{B}_q^{d/p,p})_{D_j}$$

and

$$((\dot{B}_2^{d/r,r})_{D_j},(\dot{B}_2^{d/2,2})_{D_j})_{\theta} = (\dot{B}_2^{d/p,p})_{D_j},$$

for any  $j \in \{1, ..., d\}$ .

**Proof of Theorem 8.** Again, suppose  $p, r, \theta$  are as in the proof of Theorem 10. We put  $X = (\dot{B}_1^{d/r,r})_{C_{\delta}}, \tilde{X} = (\dot{B}_2^{d/r,r})_{C_{(1+\varepsilon)\delta}}$  and  $Y = (\dot{B}_2^{d/2,2})_{C_{\delta}}, \tilde{Y} = (\dot{B}_2^{d/2,2})_{C_{(1+\varepsilon)\delta}}$ . The operator T is the usual divergence operator T = div. It remains to apply Theorem 37 and to observe that, by the retraction method,

$$((\dot{B}_1^{d/r,r})_{C_{\delta}},(\dot{B}_2^{d/2,2})_{C_{\delta}})_{\theta} = (\dot{B}_q^{d/p,p})_{C_{\delta}}$$

and

$$((\dot{B}_{2}^{d/r,r})_{C_{(1+\varepsilon)\delta}},(\dot{B}_{2}^{d/2,2})_{C_{(1+\varepsilon)\delta}})_{\theta} = (\dot{B}_{2}^{d/p,p})_{C_{(1+\varepsilon)\delta}}$$

Both of these equalities rest on the fact that the Fourier projections  $P_{C_{\delta}}$  on the sets  $C_{\delta}$  are a sum of two rotated and dilated Riesz projections. Hence,  $P_{C_{\delta}}$  is bounded on each of the spaces  $\dot{B}_{1}^{d/r,r}$ ,  $\dot{B}_{2}^{d/r,r}$  and  $\dot{B}_{2}^{d/2,2}$ .

Let us see now that Theorem 9 implies Theorem 7. For this we need only some elementary geometry. Suppose  $d \ge 3$  and consider the unit vectors  $\nu_j := (1, ..., 1, 2, 1, ..., 1)/\sqrt{d+1}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  (with value 2 on the *j*-th position),  $j \in \{1, ..., d\}$ . For each  $j \in \{1, ..., d\}$  define the half-spaces

$$D_j := \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid \langle \xi, \nu_j \rangle > 0 \right\},\$$

and let D be the set  $D := D_1 \cup ... \cup D_d$ . By  $p_{D_j}(\xi)$  we denote the orthogonal projection of the point  $\xi$  on the support hyperplane  $\Pi_j$  of  $D_j$ :

$$\Pi_j := \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid \langle \xi, \nu_j \rangle = 0 \right\}.$$

Note that

$$|p_{D_j}(\xi)| = (|\xi|^2 - |\langle \xi, \nu_j \rangle|^2)^{1/2},$$

for any  $j \in \{1, ..., d\}$ .

Consider the function  $\sigma : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by  $\sigma(\xi) = \xi_1$ . We can immediately see that this  $\sigma$  satisfies the conditions (P1), (P2). We have now  $\sigma_j(\xi) = \xi_j$ , for all  $j \in \{1, ..., d\}$ . Consider  $G_0 := (\sigma_1, ..., \sigma_{d-1})$  and let  $G_j$  be obtained by composing  $G_0$  with a rotation that transforms  $\mathbb{R}^{d-1} \times (0, \infty)$  in  $D_j$ . One can see that  $|G_j(\xi)| \sim |p_{D_j}(\xi)|$ , for all  $j \in \{1, ..., d\}$ . In order to see that the family of functions  $G_1, ..., G_d$  is adapted to the family  $D_1, ..., D_d$  of half-spaces it remains to prove the following equivalence that corresponds to (10):

Lemma 38. With the above notation we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{d} |p_{D_j}(\xi)| \mathbf{1}_{D_j}(\xi) \sim |\xi| \mathbf{1}_{D}(\xi),$$

for any  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ .

**Proof.** Observe that  $|\nu_i - \nu_j| < 1$  and  $|\langle \nu_i, \nu_j \rangle| < 1$  for any  $i, j \in \{1, ..., d\}, i \neq j$ . It follows from this that we can find some sufficiently small number  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$  such that

$$|\nu_i - \nu_j| < \sqrt{1 - \alpha},\tag{109}$$

for any  $i, j \in \{1, ..., d\}$ , and

$$\sqrt{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}} + |\langle \nu_1, \nu_2 \rangle| < 1.$$
(110)

Let  $c \in (0, 1)$  such that  $\sqrt{1-c}$  equals the left hand side of (110). In order to prove Lemma 38 it suffices to see that, for any  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{d} \left| p_{D_j}(\xi) \right| \mathbf{1}_{D_j}(\xi) \ge c_1 \left| \xi \right| \mathbf{1}_{D}(\xi), \tag{111}$$

with  $c_1 = \min(\sqrt{\alpha}, \sqrt{c})$ .

Pick some  $\xi \in D_1 \cap ... \cap D_d$ . If  $|\langle \xi, \nu_1 \rangle| \leq \sqrt{1-\alpha} |\xi|$ , then the left hand side of (111) is at least

$$|p_{D_1}(\xi)| = (|\xi|^2 - |\langle \xi, \nu_1 \rangle|^2)^{1/2} \ge \sqrt{\alpha} |\xi|,$$

and we are done. Else, we have  $|\langle \xi, \nu_1 \rangle| > \sqrt{1-\alpha} |\xi|$  and decomposing  $\xi$  as  $\xi = \beta \nu_1 + w$ , for some  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $w \in \mathbb{R}^d$  with  $w \perp \nu_1$ , we can rewrite this inequality as

$$|\beta| > \sqrt{1 - \alpha} \left( |\beta|^2 + |w|^2 \right)^{1/2}$$

or, equivalently,

$$|w| < |\beta| \sqrt{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}}.$$
(112)

Now, note that, using (110)

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle \xi, \nu_2 \rangle| &\leq |\beta| |\langle \nu_1, \nu_2 \rangle| + |\langle w, \nu_2 \rangle| \\ &\leq |\beta| |\langle \nu_1, \nu_2 \rangle| + |w| \\ &< |\beta| \left( |\langle \nu_1, \nu_2 \rangle| + \sqrt{\frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha}} \right) \\ &\leq |\xi| \sqrt{1 - c}. \end{aligned}$$

As above we get  $|p_{D_2}(\xi)| = (|\xi|^2 - |\langle \xi, \nu_1 \rangle|^2)^{1/2} \ge \sqrt{c} |\xi|$  and we are done. It remains to treat the case  $\xi \in D \setminus (D_1 \cap ... \cap D_d)$ .

Suppose  $\xi \in D_k \setminus (D_1 \cap ... \cap D_d)$  for some  $k \in \{1, ..., d\}$ . Then, we cannot have  $\langle \xi, \nu_k \rangle > \sqrt{1-\alpha} |\xi|$ . Otherwise, using (109),

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \xi, \nu_j \rangle &= \langle \xi, \nu_k \rangle - \langle \xi, \nu_k - \nu_j \rangle \\ &> \sqrt{1 - \alpha} \left| \xi \right| - \left| \nu_i - \nu_j \right| \left| \xi \right| > 0, \end{aligned}$$

for any  $j \in \{1, ..., d\}$ , and we obtain that  $\xi \in D_1 \cap ... \cap D_d$  contradicting the choice of  $\xi$ . Hence, we must have  $\langle \xi, \nu_k \rangle \leq \sqrt{1-\alpha} |\xi|$  and since  $\langle \xi, \nu_k \rangle > 0$  (thanks to the fact that  $\xi \in D_k$ ) we get  $|\langle \xi, \nu_k \rangle| \leq \sqrt{1-\alpha} |\xi|$ . Now we can conclude as above.

By applying Theorem 9 we get a version of Theorem 7 in which the Fourier support of the solutions lie in the set D instead of  $\Delta = \mathbb{R}^d \setminus (-\infty, 0)^d$ . One can easily deduce from this the original version of Theorem 7 by composing the involved functions (the source term and the solution) by rotations and dilations.

**Remark 39.** It would be interesting if one could replace the set  $\Delta = \mathbb{R}^d \setminus (-\infty, 0)^d$  in Theorem 7 with the set  $(-\infty, 0)^d$ . This will give a stronger version of Theorem 7. It is not known whether this stronger version is true or not. The methods used in this paper seem to not apply in the case of the set  $(-\infty, 0)^d$ .

## 5.2 Remark concerning the "third" parameter

Let us consider here the problem related to the nonoptimality of the third parameter. For the sake of simplicity we are concerned here only with the divergence equation. Similar observations can be made for the case of the divergence-like equations.

Recall that, in Theorem 10 in contrast to Theorem 3, we lose some control of the parameter q of the Besov spaces involved: we start with a source term in  $\dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$  and we end up with a solution in  $\dot{B}_2^{d/p,p}$  which, despite the fact that it has the "right" differential regularity (the exponents p and s = d/p are the right ones), it is a space strictly larger than  $\dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$ . This is due to the fact that in order to easily compute the source space we have chosen X such that  $X \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}$ . Consequently, we have to take  $\tilde{X}$  strictly larger than X. Indeed, choosing  $\tilde{X} = X$  the hypotheses of Theorem 37 imply that  $\dot{W}^{d/2,2} \hookrightarrow X \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}$ , however,  $\dot{W}^{d/2,2}$  is not embedded in  $L^{\infty}$ . By the method we used to prove Theorem 10 it is unlikely to improve the solution space to  $L^{\infty} \cap \dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$ . A similar remark can be made for Theorem 11.

When we use Theorem 37, in order to not lose any regularity, we would like to have that  $\tilde{X} = X$  and

$$(L^{\infty} \cap X, \dot{W}^{d/2,2})_{\theta} = (X, \dot{W}^{d/2,2})_{\theta}.$$
 (113)

Since  $\dot{W}^{d/2,2} \hookrightarrow X$  we cannot impose the condition  $X \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}$ . Apart from this situation, there are other natural candidates for the space X that one may expect to satisfy (113). However, this condition (113) is too restrictive. For instance we cannot pick  $X = \dot{B}_r^{d/r,r}$  for some  $r \in (2,\infty)$ . Indeed, in this case, we have the following negative result:

**Proposition 40.** Let  $r \in (2, \infty)$  and  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  be some fixed parameters. Then,

$$(L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{B}_r^{d/r,r}(\mathbb{R}^d), \dot{W}^{d/2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d))_{\theta} \neq (\dot{B}_r^{d/r,r}(\mathbb{R}^d), \dot{W}^{d/2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d))_{\theta}$$

(The corresponding norms on the two interpolation spaces are not equivalent.)

**Proof.** Suppose by contradiction that we have

$$(L^{\infty} \cap \dot{B}_{r}^{d/r,r}, \dot{W}^{d/2,2})_{\theta} = (\dot{B}_{r}^{d/r,r}, \dot{W}^{d/2,2})_{\theta}.$$

This implies that

$$(L^{\infty} \cap \dot{B}_{r}^{d/r,r}, \dot{W}^{d/2,2})_{\theta} = (\dot{B}_{r}^{d/r,r}, \dot{B}_{2}^{d/2,2})_{\theta}$$

$$= \dot{B}_{p}^{d/p,p},$$
(114)

where  $1/p = (1 - \theta)/r + \theta/2$ . On the other hand, since p > 2, there exists some  $\eta \in (0, 1)$  such that

$$(\dot{B}_p^{d/p,p}, \dot{B}_1^{d,1})_{\theta} = \dot{B}_2^{d/2,2}.$$

This, together with (114) and T. Wolff's interpolation theorem (see [25, Theorem 2]) implies that, there exists some  $\theta_1 \in (0, 1)$  such that

$$(L^{\infty} \cap \dot{B}_{r}^{d/r,r}, \dot{B}_{1}^{d,1})_{\theta_{1}} = \dot{B}_{2}^{d/2,2}.$$
(115)

Consider some function  $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}(B(0,1))$  such that  $\psi \equiv 1$  on B(0,1/2) and define the operator  $T_{\psi}$  by

$$T_{\psi}f = f - f * \widehat{\psi},$$

for any Schwartz function f. We extend  $T_{\psi}$  by continuity to the spaces  $L^{\infty} \cap \dot{B}_{r}^{d/r,r}$ ,  $\dot{B}_{1}^{d,1}$ ,  $\dot{B}_{2}^{d/2,2}$ and we easily observe that we have the embeddings  $T_{\psi}(L^{\infty} \cap \dot{B}_{r}^{d/r,r}) \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}$  and  $T_{\psi}(\dot{B}_{1}^{d,1}) \hookrightarrow B_{1}^{d,1} \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}$ .

Thanks to this and (115),  $T_{\psi}(\dot{B}_2^{d/2,2})$  must be embedded in  $L^{\infty}$ . In other words,

$$\left\| f - f * \widehat{\psi} \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{B}_{2}^{d/2,2}} = \|f\|_{\dot{W}^{d/2,2}} \lesssim \|f\|_{W^{d/2,2}}, \qquad (116)$$

for any Schwartz function f. Young's inequality and the fact that  $\widehat{\psi}$  is Schwartz gives us that

$$|f * \widehat{\psi}||_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \left\|\widehat{\psi}\right\|_{L^{2}} \|f\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \|f\|_{W^{d/2,2}},$$

which together with (115) yields

$$\|f\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \left\|f - f * \widehat{\psi}\right\|_{L^{\infty}} + \left\|f * \widehat{\psi}\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \|f\|_{W^{d/2,2}}.$$

In other words we have obtained the embedding  $W^{d/2,2} \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}$ , which is false.

**Open problem.** Suppose  $D = \mathbb{R}^{d-1} \times (0, \infty)$  and X is a function space on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that

$$\dot{W}^{d/2,2} \hookrightarrow X \hookrightarrow BMO.$$

Is it true that

$$\operatorname{div}(L^{\infty} \cap X_D, \dot{W}_D^{d/2,2})_{\theta} = \operatorname{div}(X_D, \dot{W}_D^{d/2,2})_{\theta}$$

(in the sense that any divergence of a  $(X_D, \dot{W}_D^{d/2,2})_{\theta}$  vector field is a divergence of a  $(L^{\infty} \cap X_D, \dot{W}_D^{d/2,2})_{\theta}$  vector field)?

If the answer to this question is yes, then, by using Theorem 37 we would be able to provide a version of Theorem 7 with no loss of regularity in the third parameter:

**Conjecture.** Let  $d \geq 3$  be an integer and consider the set  $\Delta := \mathbb{R}^d \setminus (-\infty, 0)^d$ . Consider some parameters  $p \in [2, \infty)$  and  $q \in (1, \infty)$ . Then, for any vector field  $v \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{F}_q^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , with  $spec(v) \subseteq \Delta$  there exists a vector field  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \dot{F}_q^{d/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , with  $spec(u) \subseteq \Delta$  such that

$$\operatorname{div} u = \operatorname{div} v,$$

and

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}\cap \dot{F}_{q}^{d/p,p}} \lesssim \|v\|_{\dot{F}_{q}^{d/p,p}}.$$

(And a similar statement with  $\dot{B}_q^{d/p,p}$  in place of  $\dot{F}_q^{d/p,p}$ .)

One can formulate similar conjectures corresponding to the statements of Theorem 9 and Theorem 8.

## References

- Bahouri, H., Chemin, J-Y., Danchin, D.,: "Fourier Analysis and Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations". Jahresber. Dtsch. Math. Ver. 115, 211–215, 2014.
- [2] Bergh, J., Löfström, J., Interpolation spaces. An introduction, vol. 223 in Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1976.
- [3] G. Bourdaud: Réalisations des espaces de Besov homogènes, Arkiv för Matematik, 26, pages 41–54, 1988.
- [4] Bourgain, J., Some remarks on Banach spaces in which martingale difference sequences are unconditional, Arkiv för Matematik, Volume 21, Issue 1-2, pp. 163-168, 1983.
- [5] Bourgain, J., Brézis, H., On the equation div Y = f and application to control of phases. J.Amer. Math. Soc., 16(2) :393–426 (electronic), 2003.
- Bourgain, J., Brézis, H., New estimates for eliptic equations and Hodge type systems. J. Eur. Math. Soc., 9, no. 2, 277-315, 2007.
- Bousquet, P., Mironescu, P., Russ, E., A limiting case for the divergence equation. Math. Z., 1-2: 427-460, 2013.
- [8] Bousquet, P., Russ, E., Wang, Y., Yung, P-L., Approximation in fractional Sobolev spaces and Hodge systems. J. Funct. Anal. 276, no. 5, 1430-1478, 2019.
- [9] Burkholder, D., A geometric condition that implies the existence of certain singular integrals of Banach-space-valued functions, "Conference on Harmonic Analysis in Honor of Antoni Zygmund", (Chicago, 1981). Wadsworth, Belmont, California, pp. 270-286, 1983.
- [10] Calderón, A. P., Intermediate spaces and interpolation, the complex method, Studia Math. 24, 113-190, 1964.
- [11] Curcă, E., On the interpolation of the spaces  $W^{l,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $W^{r,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , preprint, 2023.
- [12] Diestel, J., Uhl, J.J.Jr., Vector measures. Math. Surveys 15. Amer. Math. Soc. Providence, 1977.
- [13] Grafakos, L., Classical Fourier Analysis, 2nd edition, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Springer, New York, 2008.
- [14] Kreyszig, E., Introductory Functional Analysis with Applications, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1978.
- [15] Krugliak, N., Maligranda, L., Persson, L. E., The failure of the Hardy inequality and interpolation of intersections, Ark. Mat. 37, 323–344, 1999.
- [16] Mazya, V., Bourgain-Brezis type inequality with explicit constants, Contemporary Mathematics 445: 247-252, 2007.
- [17] Mironescu, P., On some inequalities of Bourgain, Brézis, Maz'ya, and Shaposhnikova related to L<sup>1</sup> vector fields. Comptes rendus de l'Académie des sciences. Série I, Mathématique, 348 (9-10), pp.513-515, 2010.
- [18] Muscalu, C., Schlag, W., Classical and Multilinear Harmonic Analysis. Vol. I, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2013.

- [19] Muskhelishvili, N. I., Singular Integral Equations, Groningen: Noordhoff, 1953.
- [20] Pisier, G., Martingales in Banach Spaces, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics Series, Vol. 155, 2016.
- [21] Runst, T., Sickel, W., Sobolev spaces of fractional order, Nemytskij operators, and nonlinear partial differential equations 3, de Gruyter, 1996.
- [22] Peetre, J., Sur la transformation de Fourier des fonctions à valeurs vectorielles, Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova, 42, pp. 15-26, 1969.
- [23] Seeger, A., Trebels, W., Embeddings for spaces of Lorentz-Sobolev type. Mathematische Annalen. 373. 10.1007/s00208-018-1730-8, 2019
- [24] Triebel, H., Theory of function spaces II. Basel, Birkhauser, 1992.
- [25] Wolff., T., A note on interpolation spaces, Lecture Notes in Math., 908, Springer, Berlin, pp. 199-204, 1982.
- [26] Ziemer, W. P., Weakly Differentiable Functions, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 120, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989.